UNIT III.  PRHOHIBITED CONDUCT 

Statutory Drafting
A.  Introduction to Statutory Drafting

LEGISLATIVE DRAFTING 

From William N. Eskridge, Jr. & Philip P. Frickey

Cases And Materials On Legislation:  Statutes and the Creation

of Public Policy 108-11, 115-18 (2d Ed. 1995)

OUR APPROACH TO STATUTORY DRAFTING

[To illustrate drafting techniques, the authors use the example of adding “sexual orientation” as a prohibited classification to federal anti-discrimination laws .]
The first step is to determine what you want the proposed legislation to do.  This involves a determination of your ideal objective and, then, any amelioration of that objective to maximize the chance that your bill will receive the legislative attention you desire.  Most of the time, the objective of the drafting project will be given to the bill drafter by someone else -- by a legislator to her personal or committee staff, by an agency or executive department official to the agency or departmental lawyers, by an organized lobbying group to its counsel or staff.  But, also most of the time, the objective will be set forth in a general way.  The first job of a thoughtful drafter is to explore the objective more thoroughly on both a conceptual and a political level.


To the extent that the drafter is part of the process by which options are explored and narrowed, the drafter must be sensitive to what is politically possible.  In the case of our proposed bill, the most desirable option from the perspective of its sponsor might be to treat sexual orientation the same way race and gender are treated in Title VII - discrimination is disallowed.  This is not easily accomplished.  Consider the composition of the ... Committee... to which such a bill would be referred under the jurisdictional rules of the Senate.  Not only can the committee effectively kill the bill by failing to report it, but a severely divided committee is usually equally fatal (unless the President or one of the parties has made this a high priority item).  What sort of bill might the ... Committee be willing to report?  Would the position of the chair of the committee be important?



Even if you can envision a potential committee majority for your bill, consider that if your bill were offensive to a major interest group (e.g., employers, unions, churches) it will attract a lot of adverse lobbying.  You may not be able to afford this sort of opposition, because it dampens the enthusiasm of the bill’s probable supporters and frightens away potential supporters.  How can you avoid this problem?  Is there any way to protect against job discrimination, but without greatly offending an important group?  Here is where conceptual ingenuity often comes into play.  You might explore the options with the person or group desiring this legislation.  Would something largely symbolic be sufficient?  If not, is there a compromise solution which will advance your Member’s goals a bit less, in return for the neutrality or even support of potentially opposed groups?  How much should you be willing to compromise?  And when? (You may want to draft a very strong bill, with the expectation that it will be diluted as part of a compromise or logrolling process.)

The second step is to determine the structure of your proposed legislation.  Once you have decided on the basic idea for your proposed legislation, you need to figure out what needs to be done to implement the idea.  This is more than just devising a simple format for the bill (which we develop in the next section).  Since most proposed legislation operates in a framework created by or molded by existing statutes, the drafter needs to decide how to fit her proposal into the state or federal code of laws.  Is there any provision in existing Title VII that should be repealed?  What sections should be amended?  How much should be accomplished by explicit statutory language, and how much by subsequent lawmaking by the [relevant agency] or the courts?


For example, the simplest proposal would be add “sexual orientation” as a prohibited category. ... But where? ... Do you add “sexual orientation” everywhere that “sex” might be found?  If you do this, what might be the reaction of church groups?  Women’s groups?  Civil rights groups?  Employers?  Would gays and lesbians then ... be able to bring “disparate impact” lawsuits?  If so, that might trigger arguments similar to those used at the state level to repeal municipal anti-discrimination laws:  “Homosexuals are getting ‘special treatment’!” Besides, a majority of lesbian and gay employees are “in the closet,” so the concept of disparate impact is less useful for sexual orientation discrimination.



The “simplest” proposal, it turns out, is not so simple after all.  More complicated proposals might require a whole new statutory scheme, albeit one that borrows from or ties into Title VII.  You might draft a “Gay and Lesbian Civil Rights Act” targeted at the forms of discrimination affecting gays and lesbians most substantially, while excepting groups or situations likely to raise the most heat against such a bill.  ...

The third step is to draft the bill, so that the language and organization are no more complicated than necessary, serve the object of the legislation without creating unnecessary problems, and are internally coherent and consistent with usages in the existing statute.  The hardest step in our process is executing the concept and the organization developed in the first two steps. ... We suggest some guidelines for execution [below], but there are three general precepts that are particularly important.


First is Ockham’s Razor:  Create the narrowest possible statute that is clear and serves your purposes.  Do not clutter up the statute with unnecessary verbiage.  For example, do not say: “The Commission shall undertake a determination….” Instead, say: “The Commission shall determine….”  Have a compelling justification for each provision.  ...  Make the sections brief.  If a matter requires great elaboration on the face of the statute, break up the provision into several sections, or create several subsections.


Second, be helpful to the reader.  Statutes are meant to influence conduct, and that basic purpose of almost all statutes is, obviously, better served if the statute is clear, precise, and logically developed.  If there is an overall purpose to your proposed statute, announce it simply.  Avoid “legalese” and big words when simpler terms would convey the same meaning, for the latter will be meaningful to more people.  Provide definitions when you are using common words in a narrow way.  Organize the statute logically. ... It is useful if the sections and the subsections (and further subdivisions) follow a logical pattern.  Titles or captions for sections and, sometimes, for subsections are often useful.



Third, follow rules of consistency.  Do not use different words to refer to the same thing.  For example, do not use “sexual orientation” in [one place] and “homosexuality” in [another] if you mean essentially the same thing.  Choose one term, and you should probably define it.... Do not use the same word to refer to different things.  For example, it would be potentially confusing to use “discrimination” in a different sense when referring to racial discrimination than when referring to sexual orientation discrimination. ... If your proposed legislation is to be integrated into an existing statutory scheme, be consistent with the usages adopted in the existing scheme.  ...  Indeed, in drafting your bill, you may consider existing provisions as models, much as prior contracts are often starting points for lawyers drafting new contracts.  While you do not want to adopt the vices of the existing statute...,  its terms of art and set phrases are useful starting points in drafting a statute that will fit in with existing law. …

NINE DRAFTING COMMANDMENTS
“It is more important to be careful than to be brilliant.” This adage, repeated over the decades by senior partners to their smart but sloppy young associates, has special pertinence for legislative drafting.  The statutory drafter must pay meticulous attention to the use of language.  A master drafter might suggest the following Nine Commandments to underline this point:

I.
Thou shalt worship no other gods before clarity (unless instructed to the contrary by the sponsor of the bill).  ... The main purpose of statutes is to communicate directions to citizens, telling us what legal rights and duties we have in our polity.  While the legislature may not always have clear goals and directives in mind when it passes a statute, it is certainly the job of the statutory drafter to communicate what directives there are with clarity and precision to the citizenry.  Our other commandments of statutory drafting flow from this central one.

II.
 Thou shalt not covet ambiguity.  ... “Semantic ambiguity” arises apart from context and describes uncertainty rooted in more than one dictionary definition of a word.  See, e.g., Nix v. Hedden, 149 U.S. 304 (1893), ... where the Court puzzled whether a tomato is a “fruit” or a “vegetable.”  More important for drafting purposes is “syntactic ambiguity” caused by unclear modification or reference. ... If the statute says that “the trustee shall require him promptly to repay the loan,” does “promptly” modify “require” or “repay”?  And modifiers preceding or following a series:  If the statute applies to “charitable corporations or institutions performing educational functions,” does “charitable” modify “institutions,” and does “performing educational functions” modify “corporations”?  “Contextual ambiguity” is also common.  Even when the words and syntax are clear, context may create ambiguity.  ...

III.  Thou shalt not embrace vagueness, without good justification.  Vagueness is a very different problem from ambiguity.  Ambiguity creates an “either/or” situation, while vagueness creates a variety of possible meanings.  For example, the Sherman Act’s prohibition of “contracts in restraint of trade” is vague: Its meaning cannot be narrowed to a choice between two propositions and is, instead, a range of possible meanings -- from a prohibition of all contractual limitations on business freedom to a prohibition of only the most egregious or large-scale restraints.  The Sherman Act is a case where vagueness may be desirable (in contrast to ambiguity, which should almost always be avoided).  Congress did not attempt to define exactly what anticompetitive arrangements are unlawful and left the development of rules and standards to a common law process that has enabled the statute to respond to changing circumstances and theories of regulation.

IV.  Remember the rules of statutory interpretation, so that courts will not take the meaning of thy statute in vain.  A good deal of unintended ambiguity and vagueness may be eliminated by a working knowledge of the textual and substantive canons of statutory interpretation....  Although we believe that the canons do not always dictate judicial resolution of conflicting interpretations of a statute, they are … useful guidelines for drafters.  Similarly, many states have general construction statutes like the Model Statutory Construction Act, which establish rules of presumptive usage in statutes. ...   



Many of these canons and rules are simply precepts of language; if the drafter is aware that courts will generally interpret certain language constructs in a special way, then the drafter may avoid ambiguity.  Section 4 of the Model Act states: “Words of one gender include the other gender.”  The canons of construction are to the same effect.  Knowing this precept, the statutory drafter must take special care if the statute is supposed to cover one and only one gender.  Thus, if the drafter is to write a criminal law that only covers the rape of women by men, the drafter might include a statutory definition that excludes the operation of the general rule that words of one gender include the other gender.

V.   Thou shalt not kill the flexibility of thy statute by being excessively precise.  Another example of the drafting usefulness of the canons of interpretation is to avoid the sin of overprecision, or trying to cover all facets of a problem for which it is impossible to anticipate all facets.  The statute in Holy Trinity Church prohibited any encouragement of alien migration to the United States but specifically excepted actors, lecturers, and singers from the prohibition.  The drafters probably did not mean to include ministers in the general prohibition, but created a problem when they failed to include “ministers” in the list of specific exceptions.  The expressio unius canon posits that inclusion of one thing in a list implies the exclusion of all things not listed.  Had the Supreme Court followed that canon, it would have invalidated the Church’s arrangement in the case, under which it had hired a minister from England.  By trying to be comprehensive, the drafter produced a statute that could yield unjust results and might not prove flexible enough to deal fairly with new occupational groups that might later want to migrate to the United States.

VI.  Thou shalt be wary of legalisms and avoid verbosity, to the extent possible.  Like overprecision, legalisms may contribute to excessive length of the statute.  A critical precept in statutory drafting is to avoid verbosity.  Shorter words, sentences, sections are better than longer words, sentences, paragraphs, everything else being equal.  Proficient drafters will avoid redundancy:  “In full force and effect” is a waste of ink and trees.  They will use strong active verbs instead of more complex structures:  “The Secretary shall approve all applications that…” is preferable to either “Applications shall … be approved, if …” or “Applications shall be approved if they….”

VII.  Thou shalt use simple, everyday language and constructions to the extent possible, but shalt not sacrifice clarity and precision to the false god of simplicity.  On the other hand, legalisms and elaboration may be necessary for statutory clarity.  A paradigm of simplicity and plain meaning is the Seventh Commandment:  “Thou shalt not kill.” But consider the quandaries that would exist if that were enacted into law. ... Would that statute criminalize the killing of an animal?  Aren’t there some circumstances (e.g., self-defense) in which the killing of a human being might be justifiable?  Should all killing be treated equally, or should there be gradations?  While the Seventh Commandment is an excellent moral principle, it does not work as a statute.  ...


Generally, good rules of writing style are equally good rules of drafting style.  One exception is elegant variation.....  While creative writers may like to use a variety of words to express the same thing, so as to avoid using the same word repetitiously, statutory drafters should generally use the same term with tedious regularity.  Consistency rather than stylistic elegance is the overriding goal of the statutory drafter.  Metaphors and similes are wonderful devices for creative writing yet are inappropriate for statutory writing, because the many layers of meaning and image they suggest -- what makes them good literature -- interfere with the main purpose of statutes -- to communicate directives to citizens about their rights and duties under the law.  For statutory writing, consistency serves this goal.

VIII.  Honor the purposes of the parents of thy statute, that the statute may serve those purposes flexibly for all of its life, and the lives of its progeny.  Sensitivity to the use of words is only half the drafter’s work.  Ideally, the drafter should carry out thorough research on various aspects of the problem, so that legal and factual difficulties can be anticipated.  Especially during the limited legislative sessions in many states, this is not always possible.  At a minimum, though, the drafter must understand the goals of the persons or institutions sponsoring the bill, so that the executed draft bill will meet those goals, to the extent the political environment renders feasible.

IX.  Remember all thine days that good statutory writing is actually good statutory rewriting.  Finally, as in all other legal writing, a bill or statute cannot be written in one draft.  The preliminary draft should be circulated to colleagues and, when appropriate, political actors who would be affected by it.  Be sensitive to their comments, suggestions, and complaints.  Two minds can think of more hypothetical situations and difficulties than one mind, and problems of expression and syntax can often be resolved by discussion.  ...
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
REED DICKERSON, MATERIALS ONLEGAL DRAFTING 

pp. 168-73, 175-79, 182-86, 193 (1981)

CONSISTENCY

NOTE:
The most important single principle in legal drafting is consistency.  Each time an idea is expressed in a legal instrument, it should be expressed the same way.  Each time a different idea is expressed, it should be expressed differently.  Where comparable ideas are similar in some respects and different in others, their expression should be correspondingly similar and different.  Because this highlights the existence and extent of the substantive differences, it facilitates useful comparisons....  The consistency principle also calls for maintaining parallel sentence or paragraph structure for substantively comparable provisions... .

H. W. Fowler, Modern English Usage 130-31 (1952) 

ELEGANT VARIATION.  It is the second-rate writers, those intent rather on expressing themselves prettily than on conveying their meaning clearly, & still more those whose notions of style are based on a few misleading rules of thumb, that are chiefly open to the allurements of elegant variations.  Thackeray may be seduced into an occasional lapse (careering during the season from one great dinner of twenty covers to another of eighteen guests—where, however, the variation in words may be defended as setting off the sameness of circumstances); but the real victims, first terrorized by a misunderstood taboo, next fascinated by a newly discovered ingenuity, & finally addicted to an incurable vice, are the minor novelists & the reporters.  There are few literary faults so widely prevalent, & this book will not have been written in vain if the present article should heal any sufferer of his infirmity.  The fatal influence ... is the advice given to young writers never to use the same word twice in a sentence—or within 20 lines or other limit. ...  


These, however, are mere pieces of gross carelessness, which would be disavowed by their authors.  Diametrically opposed to them are sentences in which the writer, far from carelessly repeating a word in a different application, has carefully not repeated it in a similar application; the effect is to set readers wondering what the significance of the change is, only to conclude disappointedly that it has none ....

Rudolf Flesch, The Art Of Plain Talk 72 (1946) 
[An example of overdone elegant variation]:


“She is, I think, a lady not known to Monsieur,” murmured the valet   ...


“Show her out here, Hippolyte,” the Comte commanded   ...


“My descent upon you is unceremonious,” she began   ...


“But seat yourself, I beg of you, Mademoiselle,” cried the Comte   ...


“But yes,” she insisted   ...


“Certainly people are wrong,” agreed the Comte   ...


“Perhaps,” he murmured   ...


“The jewels!” she breathed   ...

NOTE:  A startling illustration of inconsistency of expression appeared in section 42.1 (Definitions) of the Federal Aviation Agency’s Civil Air Regulations before those regulations were recodified in the early 1960’s.  Here, seven different ways were used to express the same verbal connection between the term being defined and its definition:


“Accelerate-stop distance is   ...”


“Air carrier means   ...”


“The approach or take-off area shall be ...”

“Approved   ... shall mean ...”


“An extended over-water operation shall be considered ...”

“Alaska air carrier includes ...”(this definition was apparently intended to be exhaustive, not partial).


“IFR.  The symbol  ...” (i.e., the express verbal connection was omitted).


What is the most remarkable about these examples is that they all occurred in the same section.  Although the particular variations probably did not have important direct consequences, they served notice on the reader that so far as Part 42 was concerned he couldn’t be sure whether a change in wording signified a change in substance or not.  As if seven variations were not enough, section 43.70 added an eighth:


“Category shall indicate ... “ 

C. K. Ogden & 1. A. Richards, The Meaning Of Meaning 134 (10th ed. 1956)

The   … Utraquistic subterfuge, has probably made more bad argument plausible than any other controversial device which can be practised upon trustful humanity.  It has long been recognized that the term “perception” may have either a physical or a mental referent.  Does it refer to what is perceived, or to the perceiving of this?  Similarly, “knowledge” may refer to what is known or to the knowing of it.  The Utraquistic subterfuge consists in the use of such terms for both at once of the diverse referents in question.  We have it typically when the term “beauty” is employed, reference being made confusedly both to qualities of the beautiful object and to emotional effects of these qualities on the beholder.

Zechariah Chafee, The Disorderly Conduct Of Words
41 Colum. L. Rev. 381, 387 (1941).


When the objects for which a single word stands are thus widely separated, no harm results except an occasional excruciating pun, from which even the law is not free.  A Massachusetts doctor charged with procuring an abortion argued to the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts that he was protected by the Statute of Frauds:  no one should be held for the debt default or “miscarriage of another” unless evidenced by some memorandum in writing.


However, when the same word signifies two ideas which are close to each other or overlap, confusion and obscurity are probable.  The writer may fall into the terrible crime called the utraquistic subterfuge, of using the word in both its senses during the same discussion.  This is said to be a frequent crime among philosophers.  For example, “knowledge” may be used for both the content of what is known and the process of knowing.  Such an error occasionally creeps into judicial opinions.  For example, a case involves a serious misstatement of fact, but it is not clear that the speaker knew of the falsehood or intended to deceive.  The judge begins by calling innocent misrepresentation “constructive fraud.” After a while “constructive” drops out.  Later on he cites a number of cases of intentional misrepresentations which stress the wickedness of “fraud.” “Fraud” is an emotive as well as a communicative word, and the judge begins to warm up.  Before long the speaker’s knowledge of the falsehood is treated as irrelevant, and the judge concludes that an innocent misstatement should be heavily penalized because “fraud” is a vicious quality.

H. W. Fowler, Modern English Usage 319 (1952)


Legerdemain with two senses, or the using of a word twice (or of a word & the pronoun that represents it, or of a word that has a double job to do) without observing that the sense required the second time is different from that already in possession.  A plain example or two will show the point:—-The inhabitants of the independent lands greatly desire our direct government, which government has, however, for years refused to take any strong measures.  Although he was a very painstaking & industrious pupil, he never indicated any signs of developing into the great naval genius by which his name will in future be distinguished.  Mark has now got his first taste of print, & he liked it, & it was a taste that was to show many developments.  In the first of these, government means successively governance, & governing body—either of them a possible synonym for it, but not both to be represented by it in the same sentence.  In the second, genius means a singularly able person, but which, its deputy, means singular ability.  In the third, whereas the taste he got was an experience, the taste that showed developments was an inclination.  Such shifting from one sense to another naturally occur sometimes in reasoning, whether used by the disingenuous for the purpose of deceiving others, or by the overingenuous with the result of deceiving themselves; but we are here concerned not with their material, but with their formal, aspect; apart from any bad practical effects, they are faults of style.

Morris R. Cohen & Ernest Nagel

An Introduction To Logic And Scientific Method 225 (1934)

...   Serious blunders in reflective thinking occur because the meaning that a word has in some context is replaced, without the fact being noticed, by an allied but different meaning.  A famous instance of how the ambiguity of words may invalidate a reasoned discourse, is found in Mill’s Utilitarianism.  Mill is trying to prove “that happiness is desirable, and the only thing desirable, as an end.” ...   Now to say that a thing is “desirable” may mean either that it should be the object of desire, or that it is in fact the object of desire.  These two meanings are different.  But in order that Mill may prove his thesis that happiness is the only end, “desirable” must be taken in the first sense; all his argument shows, however, is that happiness is desirable in the second sense.

BREVITY

Brevity, Samuel Fraser, Secretary of the International Apple Association, says apparently is a forgotten virtue, and he offers this as proof.

The story of the creation of the world is told in Genesis in 400 words.  The world’s greatest moral code—the Ten Commandments contains 227 words.  Lincoln’s immortal Gettysburg address is but 238 words in length.The Declaration of Independence required only 1821 words to set up a new concept of freedom. But the Office of Price Administration is credited with using 2,800 words in announcing a reduction in the prices of cabbage seed.

David F. Cavers, The Simplification Of Government Regulations
8 Federal Bar Journal 339, 346 (1947).

The relative importance of brevity.  Brevity is a virtue when it saves the reader’s time and patience; not when it costs him both and only saves the G.P.O. newsprint.  Not infrequently the longer passage will be understood more quickly than the shorter.

A.  Siegel, To Lift The Curse Of Legalese—Simplify, Simplify

14 Across the Board 64, 70 (No. 6, June 1977).


Wordiness is a natural enemy of clarity; the language simplification process frequently turns up shorter ways of saying things.  In many cases, though, it may prove vital to explain complex legal concepts fully and precisely.  The objective is to provide customers with as complete a picture as possible of their rights and obligations.  The following excerpts from Arlen’s old and new condominium sales contracts afford cases in point:

Before

Agreement may not be Assigned; Binding Effect.  Purchaser may not assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of Seller, and any purported assignment in violation hereof shall be voidable at the option of Seller.  This agreement shall enure to the benefit of Seller’s successors and assigns.

After

Transfer of Assignment:  I have no right to assign, sell or transfer my interest in this agreement without your written consent.  If I attempt to, you can terminate the arrangement.

Others Bound by This Agreement:  If I die or in any way lose legal control of my affairs, this agreement will bind my heirs and legal representatives..  If I’ve received your permission to assign or transfer this agreement, it will bind anyone receiving my interest.  You can assign or transfer all your rights and obligations (including payments) under this agreement.


More often than not, of course, material can be condensed.  Continental Illinois National Bank achieved dramatic reductions in simplifying its rules and regulations for checking and savings accounts.  To illustrate, one passage read in part: “ ...   that Continental Bank shall have the right to charge against this account any liabilities, at any time existing and howsoever arising....” In toto, the new text notes: “If you owe us money and it’s due, we can use the money from any account you have with us to pay the debt.”

NOTE:  Wordiness takes many forms.  One common drafting sin is to use synonyms such as “alter and change”, “authorize and empower,” “sole and exclusive,” and “null and void.” Today, there is no excuse for adding synonyms.  Pick the most familiar term and stay with it.


Another drafting sin is to include pairs of words or expressions one of which includes the other.  This not only is unnecessarily wordy but may create uncertainty as to which term is intended to be controlling and which, consequently, is surplusage.  For example, do not say “authorize and direct”, if this is intended to mean what it says.  “Authorized and” should be deleted, because every direction includes the authority to comply with it.  The best guide here is simply to exclude words or expressions that contribute nothing to the legal message (e.g., “it is herein provided that”).

Edward Vanneman, Jr., Blame It All On O.P.E.C.?

65 American Bar Association Journal 1266 (1979)


Those who complain about legal draftsmanship these days probably don’t realize that our profession is simply reflecting the times, keeping up to date.  I have noticed recently an even greater number of documents that repeat numbers with both words and figures—”sixty (60),” or as it sometimes reads, “sixty (70).”


It is apparent that lawyers are sharply expressing their dismay at O.P.E.C. by demonstrating their distrust of the entire Arabic numeral system.  Thus, it is not sufficient in a document to say “10 days.” We must say “ten (10) days.” Some people, I know, still contend that lawyers follow this practice because “it looks more legal that way” or because people who read the documents don’t understand the Arabic system and need to have all numbers explained in full.


But people who profess the latter reason never have explained why a document that repeats numbers throughout does not read “One Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-nine (1979)” when it comes to the date.  Nor have they explained why traffic signs don’t read “SPEED LIMIT.  FIFTY-FIVE (55) MILES PER HOUR (MPH),” although this may explain why Los Angeles residents call their expressways by names rather than numbers.  And if there is a suspicion that adults don’t understand the Arabic system, why is it that Roman numerals are never fully explained?  An adult is much more likely to have problems with Roman numerals than with Arabic.  Indeed, I have noticed that cornerstones with rather recent Roman numeral dates frequently are interpreted to be ancient in origin.  Yet documents don’t refer to “Article Roman Numeral Six (VI).”


The only disturbing intelligence that seems to support this theory is the unconfirmed report that the Harvard Law Review Association in its next edition of a Uniform System of Citation may change its system to read, for example, “Mae v. Harrington, Three Hundred Twenty-nine (329) Mass.  Four Hundred Fifty-three (453).  One Hundred Nine (109) N.E. Second (2d) One Hundred Twenty-three (123) One Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty-two (1952).”


Equally unsupported is the rationale that the repetition of numbers and figures is a hangover from the days when many court reporters became lawyers and wanted this repetition in documents because they were used to charging by the page.


The reason why “sixty (60)” is sometimes seen in documents as “sixty (70)” is simply a reflection of … double-digit inflation.  By the time any typist has written “sixty (60),” it has become “seventy (70).” Repeating words and figures, or almost repeating them in this manner, permits draftsmen to show they are keeping up to the minute.


There may be some concern that the repetition of numbers in documents is an antique legalism rather than an expression of current involvement with modern problems.  The concurrent trend to begin almost any document with lengthy definitions carefully explaining the meaning of all words to be used, however, should put to rest complaints about the clarity of current legal documents.  Of course, when a word is used only once in a document it is somewhat of a nuisance to look for its meaning ten (10) pages previously in the document.  And it makes lawyers truly alert to see a definition of a word they are unable to find anywhere else in the document.


But it is comforting to know, that Arabic numbers are somehow never explained in the definition section but always later in the document.  It may be contended that when “six” is defined as “(6)” it is no longer necessary to explain “six” when next used in the document, but one can’t be too careful with the use of Arabic.  If the reason for repetition is clarification of the Arabic, then it also would make more sense to put the Arabic figure first—”6 (Six)”— as we do on checks.


Drafters of interrogatories may have been the first to conceive the impressive appearance of many pages of definitions preceding the actual questions.  If so, this has backfired when those responding discovered that their answers never could be meaningful to the jury if they used a completely different set of definitions preceding their answers.


Suffice it to say that those who scorn legal draftsmanship just don’t realize the effort we lawyers go to in copying old forms or in reflecting the significant issues of the day in precisely drafting various complex documents.

OVERSPECIFICITY; DETAIL

Plain Wayne, Gift Of An Orange

Wisconsin Bar Bulletin, February 1975, p. 61.


When an ordinary man wants to give an orange to another, he would merely say, “I give you this orange.” But when a lawyer does it, he says it this way: “Know all men by these presents that I hereby give, grant, bargain, sell, release, convey, transfer, and quitclaim all my right, title, interest, benefit, and use whatever in, of, and concerning this chattel, otherwise known as an orange, or citrus orantium, together with all the appurtenances thereto of skin, pulp, pip, rind, seeds, and juice, to have and to hold the said orange together with its skin, pulp, pip, rind, seeds, and juice for his own use and behalf, to himself and his heirs in fee simple forever, free from all liens, encumbrances, easements, limitations, restraints, or conditions whatsoever, any and all prior deeds, transfers or other documents whatsoever, now or anywhere made to the contrary notwithstanding, with full power to bite, cut, suck, or otherwise eat the said orange or to give away the same, with or without its skin, pulp, pip, rind, seeds, or juice.”

COMMANDING, AUTHORIZING, FORBIDDING, AND NEGATING

NOTE:  The problems of “shall”, “may”, and “must” are best seen against the broad spectrum of creating or negating rights, legal authority, duties, or conditions precedent.  For these basic legal contingencies the following conventions seem to be lexicographically sound:

(1)
To create a right, say “is entitled to”.

(2)
To create discretionary authority, say “may”.

(3)
To create a duty, say “shall”.

(4)
To create a mere condition precedent, say “must” (e.g., “To be eligible to occupy the office of mayor, a person must ...)

(5)
To negate a right, say “is not entitled to”.

(6)
To negate discretionary authority, say “may not”.

(7)
To negate a duty or a mere condition precedent, say “is not required to”.

(8)
To create a duty not to act (i.e., a prohibition), say “shall not”.

Respecting items (5) and (6): Although every right to act carries with it the discretionary authority to take the relevant action (but not conversely), merely negating the right (“is not entitled to”) does not normally negate the authority.  What about the converse?  Does negating the authority negate the right?  Normally, it does.


In most cases, negating the relevant authority is equivalent to a direct prohibition.  On the other hand, in some cases (mainly cases in which the enactment in question is not the exclusive source of authority to act) denial of the authority to act under the enacting instrument does not necessarily negate the authority to act that otherwise flows from other instruments of political power (normally, another and earlier statute).  Weakening this possibility is the fact that in most legal contexts it is common to read “No person may” as expressing, however inartistically, an intention to negate all relevant authority to act in the defined circumstances, whatever the source.  Where that is the case, negation produces the same result as direct prohibition.


Another possible objection to “No person may” (and “No person shall”) is that “No person” is the negative counterpart of “Any person,” where “any” is normally a form of verbal over-kill that provides unneeded emphasis in the routine situation where “A person” alone would be adequate. ( “Any” and”  no” should be reserved for instances where the context would otherwise raise a significant doubt as to whether the draftsman intended to cover everyone in the described class.)

Respecting item (7): Although every duty carries with it the authority to perform the relevant act (but not conversely), negating the duty (“is not required to”) does not ordinarily negate the discretionary authority to perform the act.


Read literally, “No person shall” means “No person has a duty to”, and is thus equivalent to “A person is not required to”, thus negating the duty or condition precedent.  However, in most legal contexts, “No person shall ....”, however inartistic, is likely to be read as a direct prohibition against performing the relevant act.


What about the converse?  Would negating the authority negate the duty?  In most legal contexts, the answer would seem to be yes.

Respecting item (8): Literally, “A person may not” negates only the authority to act, but in most contexts it is intended to bar action and is thus synonymous with “A person shall not”, thus creating a duty to refrain from doing the specified act.  Accordingly, this form is an acceptable substitute for “A person shall not”.  In case of doubt, it is probably safer to use the latter form.

Passive voice: Sometimes it is not feasible or desirable to identify the person charged with a duty, the recipient of a right or discretionary authority, or the person from whom a right or discretionary authority is withheld or withdrawn.  In such a case, the same conventions are respectively appropriate, with the reservation that the person, property, or condition immediately affected by the legal action replaces the unnamed person as the subject of the sentence.  The following appear to be appropriate examples:

(1) 
“The bystander shall be treated as if he were the consumer” (to create a duty in the unnamed person.)

(2)
“The applicant may not be required to pay a fee” (to negate authority in the unnamed 
person.)

(3)
“A mobile home shall not be moved on a public highway, unless (to create a duty not to act in the unnamed person).

TENSE


Because provisions of continuing effect speak as of the time they are read, they should be written in the present tense.  However, when it is necessary to express a time relationship, facts precedent to the operation of the instrument should be recited as past facts, as in the following provision:  “If, having become insolvent, the mortgagor seeks a composition with his creditors, ....”  

MOOD

The words “shall” and “shall not” normally imply that to accomplish the purpose of the provision someone must act or refrain from acting.  Draftsmen often use these words merely to declare a legal result, rather than to prescribe a rule of conduct.  In this usage the word “shall” is not only unnecessary but involves a circumlocution in thought (“false imperative”) because the purpose of the provision is achieved in the very act of declaring the legal result.  Worse, use of the false imperative (e.g., “Each person shall be required to ... “) may create doubt in particular instances whether the result is self-executing, as it is in a declaratory provision, or is effective only when required action is taken.  In declaratory (i.e., self-executing) provisions, therefore, the draftsman should use the indicative, not the imperative, mood.

Don’t say 




Say
The term “person” shall mean


The term “person” means

The equipment shall remain the property 
The equipment remains the property 

of the lessor. 




of the lessor.

No person shall be entitled


No person is entitled

The indicative mood is also appropriate for conditions.  The draftsman should avoid the subjunctive.

Don’t say: If it be determined that

Say:  If it is determined that

... One legitimate, and important, use of the subjunctive mood is the subjunctive contrary to fact.


Example:  “He shall be treated as if he were legitimate.”

VOICE

NOTE:  Experts on readability agree that language in which the passive voice predominates is harder to read than language in which the active voice predominates.  For this reason, the active voice is generally preferred.  It also has the advantage of helping to avoid ambiguity by forcing the draftsman to name the person, if identifiable, who has the relevant duty, right, power, or privilege.  

On the other hand, if there is good reason to use the passive voice, use it. ...

NUMBER

So far as substantive meaning permits, it is desirable to use the singular rather than the plural.  This will avoid the question whether the predicate applies separately to each member of the subject class or jointly to the subject class taken as a whole.

Don’t say: 
The architect shall issue certificates for the stages listed in section 403

Say:
The architect shall issue a certificate for each stage listed in section 403


unless you mean: The architect shall issue certificates for each stage listed in section 403

      or:  The architect shall issue certificates, each of which shall be for all the stages listed in section 403.
If it is necessary to use the plural, the draftsman can change to the singular, whenever desirable, by using the following device:

Employees who have earned 15 or more point credits are eligible for positions under section 9. Such an employee ...


When number is a matter of indifference, the simplest form that makes this clear is neither the singular nor the plural, but the generic.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
B.  Discriminatory Advertising
RAGIN v. THE NEW YORK TIMES CO.
923 F.2d 995 (2d Cir. 1991)

WINTER, Circuit Judge:  The New York Times Company appeals ...  from the denial of its motion under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) to dismiss the complaint in the instant matter.  Briefly stated, the complaint alleges that, during the past twenty years, the Times has published real estate advertisements “featuring thousands of human models of whom virtually none were black,” and that the few blacks depicted rarely represented potential home buyers or renters.  On those rare occasions when blacks were depicted as consumers of housing, moreover, the housing in question was in predominantly black areas.  Plaintiffs contend that by publishing these advertisements the Times has violated the Fair Housing Act....  Because Section 3604(c) validly prohibits the publication of real estate ads that “indicate[] any preference ... based on race,” and the complaint can fairly be read to allege that the Times has published such ads, we affirm the denial of the motion to dismiss.

BACKGROUND.  The Times is the publisher of The New York Times, a nationally known newspaper.  The individual plaintiffs are black persons who have been looking for housing in the New York metropolitan area.  Plaintiff Open Housing Center, Inc., is a not‑for‑profit New York corporation, one of the primary goals of which is to eliminate racially discriminatory housing practices. ...  A pertinent excerpt from the complaint states: 

During the twenty year period since the Act was passed ... advertisements appeared in the Sunday Times featuring thousands of human models of whom virtually none were black....  [W]hile many of the white human models depict representative or potential home owners or renters, the few blacks represented are usually depicted as building maintenance employees, doormen, entertainers, sports figures, small children or cartoon characters....

[T]he Times has continued to ... publish numerous advertisements that picture all‑white models in advertisements for realty located in predominantly white buildings, developments, communities or neighborhoods.  It has also ... published a few advertisements that picture all black models in advertisements for realty located in predominantly black buildings, developments, communities or neighborhoods. The use of human models in advertising personalizes the advertisements and encourages consumers to identify themselves in a positive way with the models and housing featured.  In real estate advertisements, human models often represent actual or potential purchasers or renters, or the type of potential purchasers or renters that the real estate owner has targeted as desirable occupants. Therefore, the repeated and continued depiction of white human models and the virtual absence of any black human models ... indicates a preference on the basis of race.... The real estate display advertisements featured by the Times indicate a preference based on race through the use of human models reflecting the predominant race of the advertised building, development or community.

The Times moved ... to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  ... With respect to the claim under Section 3604(c), Judge Haight denied the motion to dismiss.  Responding to the Times’s arguments, he first concluded that the pattern of ads alleged in the complaint, if proven at trial, would be sufficient to support a finding that the Times had published ads that indicated a racial preference.   Second, Judge Haight concluded that the First Amendment provides no protection for such illegal commercial speech, and that requiring the Times to monitor the ads it receives would not impose an unconstitutional burden on the press.  Finally, assuming for purposes of his decision that the constitutional vagueness doctrine was applicable to civil actions involving commercial speech, Judge Haight concluded that the statute gave the Times constitutionally adequate notice of the prohibited conduct. ...


DISCUSSION.  Like any party moving to dismiss a complaint under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), the Times must carry the burden of showing that “it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff[s] can prove no set of facts in support of [their] claim which would entitle [them] to relief.”  Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45‑46 (1957).  Given the breadth of the facts alleged in the complaint, most of the Times’s statutory and constitutional arguments amount to an assertion of immunity from Section 3604(c).  We reject those arguments.


A. 
Statutory Issues. Section 3604(c) states in pertinent part that it is unlawful: “To ... publish ... any ... advertisement, with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling that indicates any preference ... based on race....”  Beginning our analysis with the statutory language, the first critical word is the verb “indicates.”  Giving that word its common meaning, we read the statute to be violated if an ad for housing suggests to an ordinary reader that a particular race is preferred or dispreferred for the housing in question.  This standard has been adopted by the Fourth, see United States v. Hunter, 459 F.2d 205, 215 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 934 (1972), and District of Columbia Circuits, see Spann v. Colonial Village, Inc., 899 F.2d 24 (D.C.Cir.1990), and we also adopt it.

The second critical word is the noun “preference.”  The Times asks us to read that word to preclude liability for a publisher where the ad in question is not facially discriminatory and the publisher has no other evidence of a discriminatory intent.  We share that general view but with important qualifications.

The Times’s conception of what kinds of ads might be deemed by a trier of fact as facially suggesting to an ordinary reader a racial preference is intolerably narrow.  At oral argument, suggested as examples of such a facial message were real estate advertisements depicting burning crosses or swastikas.  We do not limit the statute—not to say trivialize it—by construing it to outlaw only the most provocative and offensive expressions of racism or statements indicating an outright refusal to sell or rent to persons of a particular race.  Congress used broad language in Section 3604(c), and there is no cogent reason to narrow the meaning of that language.  Ordinary readers may reasonably infer a racial message from advertisements that are more subtle than the hypothetical swastika or burning cross, and we read the word “preference” to describe any ad that would  discourage an ordinary reader of a particular race from answering it.

Moreover, the statute prohibits all ads that indicate a racial preference to an ordinary reader whatever the advertiser’s intent.  To be sure, the intent of the creator of an ad may be relevant to a factual determination of the message conveyed, but the touchstone is nevertheless the message.  If, for example, an advertiser seeking to reach a group of largely white consumers were to create advertisements that discouraged potential black consumers from responding, the statute would bar the ads, whether or not the creator of the ad had a subjective racial intent.


Keeping these general, and fairly obvious, propositions in mind, we turn to the allegations of the complaint.  Those allegations focus upon the use of models of particular races in real estate advertisements.  A threshold question is whether Section 3604(c) reaches the use of models as a medium for the expression of a racial preference.  We hold that it does.  Congress prohibited all expressions of racial preferences in 
housing advertisements and did not limit the prohibition to racial messages conveyed through certain means. Neither the text of the statute nor its legislative history suggests that Congress intended to exempt from its proscriptions subtle methods of indicating racial preferences. 

The next question is whether and in what circumstances the use of models may convey an illegal racial message.  We begin with another proposition that seems to us fairly obvious: namely, that a trier of fact could find that in this age of mass communication and sophisticated modes of persuasion, advertisers target as potential consumers groups with certain racial as well as other characteristics.  In some circumstances, such targeting conveys a racial preference, or so a trier might find.  We live in a race‑conscious society, and real estate advertisers seeking the attention of groups that are largely white may see greater profit in appealing to white consumers in a manner that consciously or unconsciously discourages non‑whites.  They may do so out of simple inertia or because of the fear that the use of black models will deter more white consumers than it attracts black consumers.  In any event, a trier plausibly may conclude that in some circumstances ads with models of a particular race and not others will be read by the ordinary reader as indicating a racial preference.

The Times does not deny that advertisers target groups but rather vigorously presses the claim that if Section 3604(c) is applied to the Times, the specter of racially conscious decisions and of racial quotas in advertising will become a reality.  We need not enter the public debate over the existence or merits of racial quotas in fields other than advertising, or look to the scope of Supreme Court decisions that permit race‑conscious decisions.  Nor do we by any means suggest that an order directing such quotas is the only appropriate or usual remedy should a publisher be found liable.

We do believe, however, that the Times’s concerns are overblown.  The quota controversy principally concerns selection of persons for competitive opportunities, such as employment or admission to college.  These are circumstances in which opinions differ whether individual skills or purely academic qualifications should govern and whether a race‑conscious decision is itself an act of racial discrimination.  The use of models in advertising, however, involves wholly different considerations.  Advertising is a make‑up‑ your‑own world in which one builds an image from scratch, selecting those portrayals that will attract targeted consumers and discarding those that will put them off.  Locale, setting, actions portrayed, weather, height, weight, gender, hair color, dress, race and numerous other factors are varied as needed to convey the message intended.  A soft‑drink manufacturer seeking to envelop its product in an aura of good will and harmony may portray a group of persons of widely varying nationalities and races singing a cheerful tune on a mountaintop.  A chain of fast‑food retailers may use models of the principal races found in urban areas where its stores are located.  Similarly, a housing complex may decide that the use of models of one race alone will maximize the number of potential consumers who respond, even though it may also discourage consumers of other races.

In advertising, a conscious racial decision regarding models thus seems almost inevitable.  All the statute requires is that in this make‑up‑your‑own world the creator of an ad not make choices among models that create a suggestion of a racial preference.  The deliberate inclusion of a black model where necessary to avoid such a message seems to us a far cry from the alleged practices that are at the core of the debate over quotas.  If race‑conscious decisions are inevitable in the make‑up‑your‑own world of advertising, a statutory interpretation that may lead to some race‑conscious decisionmaking to avoid indicating a racial preference is hardly a danger to be averted at all costs.

Moreover, the Times’s argument would prevent a trier of fact from scrutinizing the selection of models and inferring from that selection and from the surrounding circumstances a race‑conscious decision.  The creator of an ad may testify, “Gosh, I didn’t notice until this trial that all the models for tenants were white and the model for a custodian was black.”  However, a trier may justifiably disbelieve such an assertion in light of all the circumstances, much as triers of fact are allowed to draw inferences of racial intent in other contexts, or may consider such an assertion an inadvertent or unconscious expression of racism.

 Given this scope for fact‑finding, the present complaint cannot be dismissed for failure to state a claim for relief.  It alleges a long‑standing pattern of publishing real estate ads in which models of potential consumers are always white while black models largely portray service employees, except for the exclusive use of black models for housing in predominantly black neighborhoods.  Finally, it alleges that this pattern reflects a targeting of racial groups.  Given the ordinary reader test, it can hardly be said that these allegations are insufficient to enable plaintiffs to prove that the Times has published, and continues to publish, some discriminatory ads.

In the proceedings to follow, the standard for liability will no doubt be sharpened in the context of the parties’ evidentiary submissions.  We believe it useful to make some preliminary observations on that standard, however.  First, we agree with the Times that liability may not be based on an aggregation of advertisements  by different advertisers.  Although the twenty‑year pattern alleged in the complaint may have been a powerful engine for housing segregation and, if proven, will almost certainly include violations of Section 3604(c), the statute provides a prohibition only with regard to individual advertisers.

Second, as stated, liability will follow only when an ordinary reader would understand the ad as suggesting a racial preference.  The ordinary reader is neither the most suspicious nor the most insensitive of our citizenry.  Such a reader does not apply a mechanical test to every use of a model of a particular race.  An ad depicting a single model or couple of one race that is run only two or three times would seem, absent some other direct evidence of an intentional racial message, outside Section 3604(c)’s prohibitions as a matter of law.  A housing complex that runs ads several times a week for a year depicting numerous white models as consumers and black models as doormen or custodial employees would have difficulty persuading a trier of fact that its ads did not facially indicate a racial preference.  It thus seems inevitable that the close questions of liability will involve advertisers that either use a large number of models and/or advertise repetitively.  In such cases, the advertiser’s opportunities to include all groups are greater, and the message conveyed by the exclusion of a racial group is stronger.


B. 
Constitutional Issues.  The Times argues that Section 3604(c) is void for vagueness.  Even if we indulge in the assumption that the vagueness doctrine applies to civil actions, we believe the ordinary reader standard provides constitutionally adequate notice of the prohibited conduct.  As Judge Haight observed, “[t]he ‘ordinary reader’ is nothing more, but nothing less, than the common law’s ‘reasonable man’:  that familiar creature by whose standards human conduct has been judged for centuries.”  The Times’s argument seems based on an unstated premise either that the selection of models in advertising is entirely random or that publishers of major newspapers lack the sophistication to notice racial messages that are apparent to others.  The premise regarding the random selection of models is baseless, and we have more confidence in the perspicacity of publishers than do the Times’s lawyers.  Of course, close questions will arise, as they do in every area of the law, but we cannot say in the context of a facial challenge to the statute that the ordinary reader test—as Judge Haight noted, not a novel, untried concept—is a hopelessly vague legal standard. …

The Times also raises a number of arguments concerning purportedly unconstitutional burdens imposed by Section 3604(c).  First, the Times argues that enforcement of the Fair Housing Act against newspapers will compromise the unique position of the free press. As the Supreme Court in Pittsburgh Press was unable to discern any significant interference with the traditional “protection afforded to editorial judgment and to the free expression of views ... however controversial,” 413 U.S. at 391, so we perceive no disruption of the press’s traditional role that will result from prohibiting the publication of real estate ads that, to the ordinary reader, indicate a racial preference.

Second, the Times contends that the press cannot be compelled to act as an enforcer of otherwise desirable laws and that such an obligation imposes unconstitutional special burdens on the press.  The Times relies upon Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 471 U.S. 626 (1985).  Zauderer, however, is wholly inapposite.  In pertinent part, that decision addressed the constitutionality of a broad prohibition on the use of advertising by lawyers to give unsolicited legal advice and to recommend their own hiring. Although the ads in question were conceded to be truthful, the State attempted to justify the ban on the grounds that ads of that nature were prone to falsehoods and deception and that separation of the true from the false was so costly as to make a broad prohibition necessary. The Court rejected that argument, observing that “the free flow of commercial information is  valuable enough to justify imposing on would‑be regulators the costs of distinguishing the truthful from the false, the helpful from the misleading, and the harmless from the harmful.”  Id. at 646.  We do not have before us, however, a statutory prohibition on harmless as well as harmful advertising.  The ban is on racial messages, and the “would‑be regulators,” namely the plaintiffs, are entirely willing to bear the burden of proving at trial that the advertisements published by the Times indicated a racial preference.  Zauderer, therefore, is of no aid to the Times.

 Third, returning to the model of the obtuse publisher, the Times asserts that the press is ill‑equipped to conduct the monitoring of advertisements that Section 3604(c) requires.  There is, however, no support for the factual premise of this argument.  Given the facial nature of the Times’s challenge to the statute—namely, that the Times need not monitor the use of models in real estate ads at all—we do not address every ambiguous situation that may arise.  Indeed, we need only take notice of the monitoring of messages in advertising that the Times presently undertakes.

The Times thus admits that it presently reviews advertising submissions to avoid publishing ads that do not meet its “Standards of Advertising Acceptability.”  These Standards provide inter alia: 

The Times will not accept: 1. Generally —Advertisements which contains [sic] fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading statements or illustrations. —Attacks of a personal character. —Advertisements that are overly competitive or that refer abusively to the goods or services of others. 2. Investments Advertisements which do not comply with applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. 3. Occult Pursuits Advertisements for fortune telling, dream interpretations and individual horoscopes. 4. Foreign Languages .... 

5. Discrimination —Advertisements which fail to comply with the express requirements of federal and state laws against discrimination, including Title VII and the Fair Housing Act, or which otherwise discriminate on grounds of race, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status or disability. 6. Offensive to Good Taste Indecent, vulgar, suggestive or other advertising that, in the opinion of The Times, may be offensive to good taste. This list is not intended to include all the types of advertisements unacceptable to The Times.  Generally speaking, any other advertising that may cause financial loss to the reader, or injury to his health, or loss of his confidence in reputable advertising and ethical business practices is unacceptable. 

Given that this extensive monitoring—for purposes that are both numerous and often quite vague—is routinely performed, it strains credulity beyond the breaking point to assert that monitoring ads for racial messages imposes an unconstitutional burden.

Moreover, the Times’s argument is a policy argument that, if accepted, would undermine other civil rights laws.  For example, the Times is prohibited by Title VII from discriminating on the basis of race in employment. It thus must monitor those of its employees with the power to hire and fire.  Given the intangible and unquantifiable factors that legitimately may be taken into account in employment decisions, Section 3604(c) seems to us to impose a lesser burden of compliance than Title VII.

 We do view one of the Times’s arguments with a degree of sympathy, although it does not affect the outcome.  The individual plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages for emotional injury resulting from the ads in question, and the Times is fearful that such claims from a multitude of plaintiffs might lead to a large number of staggering, perhaps crushing, damage awards that might over time impair the press’s role in society.  The problem is that a claimant may establish a prima facie case for such damages simply by oral testimony that he or she is a newspaper reader of a race different from the models used and was substantially insulted and distressed by a certain ad.  The potential for large numbers of truly baseless claims for emotional injury thus exists, and there appears to be no ready device, other than wholly speculative judgments as to credibility, to separate the genuine from the baseless.  However, we do not regard this possibility as a reason to immunize publishers from any liability under Section 3604(c), including injunctive relief.  Rather, it is reason to assert judicial control over the size of damage awards for emotional injury in individual cases.  Where the claim of an illegal racial preference is based solely upon the use of models and not upon more directly offensive racial messages, we are confident that courts will be able to keep such awards within reason.  Accordingly, the judgment of the district court is affirmed.

SAUNDERS v. GENERAL SERVICES CORP.

659 F.Supp. 1042 (E.D. Vir. 1987)

MERHIGE, District Judge.  Renee Saunders, a black female who resides in Richmond, Virginia, is an individual plaintiff in the instant action.  Plaintiff Housing Opportunities Made Equal (“HOME”) is a non-profit corporation....  Its purposes are to further the goals of the Fair Housing Act and to promote equal housing opportunities in the Richmond area.   Defendant General Services Corporation (“GSC”) ... operates and manages fourteen apartment complexes in the Richmond area. Defendant Jonathan Perel, a white male, is President of GSC.... [P]laintiffs claim that certain of defendants’ advertising practices violate the Fair Housing Act ... and the Civil Rights Act of 1866....

Facts. ... In 1981, HOME, along with several individual complainants, including two former GSC employees, filed administrative complaints with the Virginia Real Estate Commission (“VREC”) and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”).  They alleged that GSC, through its supervisory employees, had committed various acts of housing discrimination aimed at discouraging or preventing blacks from renting housing in GSC apartment complexes.  Many of such allegations focused on the conduct of a GSC Property Manager, John Hunt.

  
[The two GSC employees in question,] Lynn Graybill and Jean Mann, testified [in this proceeding] that Hunt instructed them on various occasions to treat black tenants and prospective tenants less favorably than whites, including discouraging GSC-sponsored social activities that might attract black tenants and “turning off the charm” to prospective black tenants.  Mann also testified that defendant Perel was present at meetings at which Hunt recommended such action and did not express any disagreement. Further, she informed Perel of her concerns about Hunt’s discriminatory actions after she was terminated by GSC, but he took no action once Hunt disclaimed her allegations.

After VREC conducted its investigation and issued reasonable cause determinations as to Graybill’s and Mann’s complaints, Dr. Barbara Wurtzel, HOME’s Executive Director ... and the Assistant Director, Linda Harms, made the decision to attempt conciliation of its complaints with GSC.  The evidence establishes that HOME considered negotiation of affirmative advertising provisions, in conformity with HUD regulations, to constitute a crucial element of its conciliation agreement with GSC, as with all such cases.  As such, a standard provision in all of its proposed agreements required that all advertising and other printed materials contain an equal housing opportunity slogan or logo within thirty days of the effective date of the conciliation agreement.  Such provision was proposed by HOME to GSC as part of its proposed agreement submitted to GSC’s attorneys on August 30, 1982.

In reaction to HOME’s proposal, GSC’s attorney submitted a letter to HOME’s attorney dated October 12, 1982, which outlined its concerns with the proposed agreement in order to facilitate the parties’ next negotiating meeting. Concerning the affirmative advertising provisions, the letter represented that:

GSC will undertake some affirmative action in advertising so long as the agreement recognizes economic reality.  Although classified newspaper advertising is relatively easy to change, advertising that involves layout by professional advertisers can only be changed at considerable expense.  In addition, advertising other than through newspapers is printed in bulk and used over a period of time.  Any changes in such advertising could not be adopted until the current store of materials has been distributed.

  
Both Linda Harms and Dr. Wurtzel testified that they were concerned by GSC’s reaction to the 30-day provision because the affirmative advertising provisions were a major component of the agreement and a 30-day limit was customary in such agreements.  Based on this concern, both Harms and Wurtzel recalled asking defendants’ counsel in a negotiating session the extent of GSC’s “current store of materials” because they believed allowing depletion of the current supply would be acceptable only so long as such supply was not extensive and compliance would be achieved in a reasonably short time.  Both witnesses remember counsel representing to them that the supply was not large and would be depleted in a matter of months, and less than a year.  Wurtzel’s testimony, to which the Court gives credence, is somewhat more exact, with her recollection that such representation occurred in approximately March 1983 and was that GSC had approximately a two-month supply.  While counsel’s representation may have been premised on an honest belief at the time, subsequent conduct of the defendants supports the Court’s conclusion that they acted in an unlawful manner.  Ms. Harms further testified that Marianne Phillips, GSC Operations Manager …, confirmed that GSC’s supply was not extensive.

Both Harms and Wurtzel testified that such representation was crucial to their acceptance of GSC’s modification to the agreement, providing that a slogan or logo would be included in GSC’s advertising materials, other than newspapers, “when those materials are reprinted.”

The only rebuttal evidence offered by defendants concerning such representation was Marianne Phillips’ statement that she didn’t recall whether she had represented that GSC’s current supply was small.

While the agreement was finally executed between July 13 and 18, 1983, the testimony indicates that, as one would expect in contract negotiations, individual provisions within the agreement were agreed upon at various points in late 1982 to mid-1983.  Both Harms and Wurtzel testified that agreement on the affirmative advertising provisions was reached early in the negotiating process.  Dr. Wurtzel testified that such agreement was reached in approximately March 1983, and that after that date, the remaining negotiations focused on confidentiality and content of the news release.  Her recollection is reinforced by her negotiating notes of March 2 and 9, 1983.  While defendants argue generally that there was no legal agreement at all until the final agreement was signed in July 1983, they offer no evidence contradicting plaintiff’s evidence that the advertising provisions had been agreed upon by the parties by March 1983.

  
HOME’s attorney sent copies of the final conciliation agreement agreed to by HOME and GSC to VREC and HUD on June 20, 1983.  This agreement was executed by VREC, HOME, the individual complainants, GSC, Perel, Hunt, and Betsy King, GSC’s marketing director, between July 13 and 18, 1983, and became effective on July 18, 1983.  It included affirmative advertising provisions by which GSC agreed to include an EHO slogan or logo in all future newspaper advertising and “in other future printed advertising materials when those materials are reprinted.”  Such affirmative advertising provisions were to remain in effect for two years.  As part of the agreement, HOME released GSC and Perel from all claims which it had ever had against them up until the date of the agreement, including claims for violations of the Fair Housing Act and … §§1981-82.

HOME subsequently discovered … that GSC had ordered 134,000 copies of its Lifestyle brochure without any EHO logo or slogan on approximately June 15, 1983–just days before signing the conciliation agreement.  Such order went to press beginning on June 19, 1983, and was completed by July 23, 1983.  ...  Marianne Phillips testified that on June 1983 she ordered 134,000 copies of Lifestyle, which she believed would last for approximately one year.  In fact, such supply lasted far past the term of the conciliation agreement because … GSC decided not to proceed with a planned mass mailing in April 1984.  According to Phillips’ testimony, the large order was placed due to the cheaper unit cost, although she had testified at her deposition that she had no recollection of why such a large order was placed.  At no time during this process did anyone from GSC notify HOME of its planned order nor did it revise the brochure at that time to include an EHO logo, although other revisions were made. ... [R]evising the brochure to include an EHO logo would have cost approximately $200 to $500.

After execution of the 1983 Conciliation Agreement, GSC began to take steps to comply with its provisions.  It developed a fair housing policy statement and distributed it to all employees.  It implemented an employee training program in 1983, although unfortunately Betsy King, GSC’s Marketing Director with significant advertising responsibilities, had not yet participated in the program as of the date of trial.  

Most significant to the instant suit, GSC began implementation of the agreement’s advertising provisions.  According to Marianne Phillips’ testimony, which the Court credits on this issue, GSC attempted to comply with the basic advertising requirements, although errors were made.  Concerning newspaper advertisements, the agreement required such ads to include an EHO slogan or logo by September 1, 1983, unless modifications required the services of a design or advertising agency.  Yet it wasn’t until late September 1983 that Marianne Phillips discovered that such changes had not been made and advised her staff to make such changes “as soon as is possible.”

While, from the evidence presented, the Court finds that GSC generally complied with the agreement’s requirements concerning newspaper advertisements, it also finds that GSC exhibited a reluctance to comply, a desire to do only the bare minimum required, and an attempt to advertise its EHO policy as inconspicuously as possible.  See, e.g., [various trial exhibits] (admonishing staff to “make sure” that EHO logo is “not the only thing on the line;” questioning whether to use EHO logo in new ad in March 1986 after expiration of ad provisions; ads sent to [28] college newspapers without logo during agreement’s term; memo requesting that logo be added to group of display ads requested on last date possible under agreement; note from GSC staff member to Doug Ziegler [at GSC’s advertising agency], asking him to “add in the [EHO] logo discreetly”).

On July 5, 1985, HOME’s Fair Housing Director wrote to GSC’s attorney concerning two areas of apparent non-compliance with the advertising provisions: (1) failure to include an EHO logo in GSC’s April 1985 flyer known as “GSC Happenings”;  (2) failure of GSC’s 38-page Lifestyle brochure to include an adequate number of black models, thereby impermissibly indicating a preference based on race.  In response, GSC’s attorney agreed to include an EHO logo or slogan on future “Happenings” fliers, but stated that GSC “should not have to undertake the considerable cost of redoing [Lifestyle].”  In a later telephone conversation, Marianne Phillips did agree to include an EHO slogan or logo in an insert being planned for inclusion in Lifestyle, but stated that GSC would not agree to reprint the brochure itself until the current supply was depleted, which she estimated would take one year.  Because HOME considered GSC’s response unsatisfactory, it filed a complaint with HUD and VREC on September 9, 1985, and filed the instant action on April 15, 1986.

Beginning sometime in October 1985, GSC did begin to discuss revisions to Lifestyle, including the use of more black models.  (Betsy King’s notes concerning meetings on revisions).  Notes from these meetings reflect considerable discussion concerning the addition of black models to the brochure;  however, again GSC’s attitude appeared to be one of reluctance and interest in including blacks as little as possible.  For example, Betsy King’s notes of the initial meeting held on October 3, 1985, discuss staging “a mock cocktail party that would include ‘Marianne’s cousins.’”  In her deposition, King explained that such term was used as an acronym to refer to blacks.  Notes of another conversation with Jon Perel advise that “every prop[erty] has to have 5 people plus 1 minority.”  A questionnaire circulated by GSC asked the question “Best places for blacks?” and responses included “one or two blk. children” and “groups.”

Finally, in a memorandum from Doug Ziegler to Marianne Phillips, John Hunt, and Betsy King discussing specific areas in which revisions would be made, Ziegler wrote the following:  “Swimming: Strong need for this throughout.  Should we use blacks in this arena?”

In a meeting held on November 12, 1985, Marianne Phillips’ handwritten notes on this memorandum drew a line leading from the question “Should we use blacks in this arena?” to the answer “yes. (not in water per JH.).”  While John Hunt, Marianne Phillips and Doug Ziegler all denied that this note referred to an instruction by John Hunt not to photograph blacks in the swimming pool, this Court gives no credence to the explanations tendered.  Phillips suggests that her note is not a response to the question “Should we use blacks in this arena,” even though she drew a line from that question to the answer.  Instead, she states that Hunt merely instructed Ziegler that no one should be photographed in the water because GSC complex logos recently had been printed on the pool bottoms, and he didn’t want models to block those logos in the photographs.

  
Such an explanation lacks reason and is dispelled by the evidence.  In fact, there are more pictures containing models in the water in the revised brochure than in the original brochure.  While early in the trial, the defendants were eager to point out that there is a picture of a black couple on page 8 of the revised brochure, on cross-examination of a defendant’s witness, it was revealed that such picture was only added to the brochure at the last minute–within three weeks prior to trial.  While an advertising executive indicated that the picture of black models was added because of a last-minute need, and not to counter the effect of an October memo in the instant lawsuit, such explanation is contradicted by the whole evidence.  A comparison of the “Blue Line” and final versions of revised Lifestyle demonstrates that the picture of blacks in the pool of page 8 was merely substituted for a picture of whites in the pool, which was then moved to page 30.  The only pictures removed from the final version were a picture of a black couple sitting by the pool and a picture of two joggers, for which a stock photo of a white couple in the pool was substituted on page 13.  

Plaintiffs allege ... that defendants violated the Fair Housing Act by indicating a racial preference in their advertising and that defendants violated 42 U.S.C. §§1981-82 by intentionally using discriminatory advertising, infringing upon plaintiffs’ right to contract for rental property. ...

[In Part I, the court held that both HOME and Saunders had standing to raise FHA discriminatory advertising claims.  In Part II, the court found that the defendants had committed fraud by concealing the June 15, 1983 order of 134,000 copies of Lifestyle in order to induce HOME to enter into the conciliation agreement and granted rescission of the agreement and other remedies.  In Part III, in light of that rescission, it declined to reach HOME’s claim that defendants breached the conciliation agreement.]

IV. 
Fair Housing Act Claim

  
A.  Substance of Claim.  ... Plaintiffs argue, in what appears to be a case of first impression, that defendants violated [§3604(c)] in the publication of the Lifestyle brochure.  They contend that the virtual absence of black models from the sixty-eight photographs in that brochure containing human models indicates a preference or an intention to make a preference based on race.

In order to prove a violation of this subsection, plaintiffs need not establish that defendants intended to express a racial preference.  Rather, one court has held that a violation is proven if “[t]o an ordinary reader the natural interpretation of the advertisements published in the [newspaper] is that they indicate a racial preference in the acceptance of tenants.”  Hunter.   ...  In the instant case, then, the Court must determine from the conflicting evidence whether the Lifestyle brochure’s paucity of black models indicates a racial preference to the ordinary reader.

While the Court believes that the evidence is mixed on the instant issue, it finds that plaintiffs have proven their claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Both of plaintiffs’ experts, Dr. Barban and Mr. Franklin, have done considerable academic and market research on the effect of the racial composition of advertising models on the consumer.  Both testified that, in their opinion, the Lifestyle brochure indicated a preference for white tenants and a subtle message that black tenants would be less welcome.  While the Court is not unduly impressed by their research methodology and basis for their opinions, their findings do comport with the average layman’s knowledge of advertising.  It requires no expert to recognize that human models in advertising attempt to create an identification between the model, the consumer, and the product.  In other words, advertisers choose models with whom the targeted consumers will positively identify, hoping to convey the message that people like the depicted models consume and enjoy the advertised product. Therefore, if the consumer wants to emulate the model, he or she will use the product, too.

Thus, it is natural that readers of the Lifestyle brochure would look at the human models depicted as representing the kinds of individuals that live in and enjoy GSC apartment complexes.  If a prospective tenant positively identified with these models, the message conveyed would be that “I belong in these apartments.  ‘My kind of people’ live there.”  Conversely, if the prospective tenant reading the brochure saw no models with whom he or she could identify, the reader would obtain a message that “these apartments are not for me or ‘my kind.’“  Thus, the Court finds that the natural interpretation of the Lifestyle brochure is to indicate that GSC apartment complexes are for white, and not black, tenants, thus discouraging blacks from seeking housing there.

GSC’s own documents demonstrate that it was aware that the models used would affect the types of tenants attracted and that it intended to indicate preferences for certain types of tenants.  For example, in a memo from Jon Perel to Doug Ziegler, Perel suggested various ideas to be used in the advertising brochure for one of GSC’s properties to convey its “institutional/upper income/exclusivity approach.”  Further, when GSC recently decided to revise its Lifestyle brochure, it circulated a questionnaire to management members, asking how the brochure should “treat children, seniors” and where were the “best places for blacks,” indicating again the importance GSC placed on the placement of human models.

Finally, the Court considers a memorandum asking “Should we use blacks in this arena [swimming]?” which contains Phillips’ handwritten note responding “Yes (not in water per J.H.).”  The Court finds absolutely incredible Phillips’ and Hunt’s explanation that this note did not refer to the use of blacks in pool pictures, but merely to a general desire not to photograph human models in the pool.  The totality of the evidence clearly indicates that Hunt was concerned about showing blacks in GSC pools, again demonstrating GSC’s own belief that the race of models used would indicate GSC’s racial preferences.

Plaintiffs also presented the testimony of Renee Saunders and Earl Danzler, both of whom testified that they immediately noticed the absence of blacks in GSC’s advertising and received the message that GSC did not wish to appeal to blacks.  Finally, Mr. Franklin conducted a study which, despite many methodological weaknesses, provides some additional evidence that blacks interpreted Lifestyle to indicate a preference for white tenants.

While defendants’ expert, Dr. Loftus, did raise several valid concerns about the studies and conclusions offered by plaintiffs’ experts, she did not, in the Court’s view, adequately refute plaintiffs’ evidence that Lifestyle indicates a racial preference. ...

C.  Remedies.  Having determined that defendants have violated the Act, the Court now must determine the appropriate relief for such violation.  Plaintiffs ... ask the Court to declare that defendants’ publication of Lifestyle violated the Act, enjoin defendants from any further racial discrimination under the Act, and order defendants to modify their advertising to comply with the law, including blacks in their advertising in numbers proportionate to their percentage in the population of the Richmond metropolitan area.  In the Court’s view, the relief sought is unnecessary and overbroad.

While it is true that a Court may award affirmative injunctive relief in order to remedy past discriminatory advertising practices, such decision rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, based on whether it believes “the vestiges of prior discrimination linger and remain to be eliminated.”  Hunter. As the Court held in Hunter in affirming the district court’s decision to grant declaratory, but not injunctive relief, “in considering whether to grant injunctive relief a court should impose upon a defendant no restriction greater than necessary to protect the plaintiff from the injury of which he complains.”  Thus, the Court should not grant injunctive relief unless “there exists some cognizable danger of recurrent violation.”  

In the instant case, while declaratory relief is appropriate, the Court is not convinced that a cognizable danger exists that defendants will continue to violate their advertising obligations under the Act.  In fact, although perhaps induced by the instant litigation, defendants have subsequently revised Lifestyle to increase the use of black models.  Plaintiffs’ own experts testified that the revised brochure did not indicate a racial preference.  The Court finds that a declaratory judgment, combined with monetary damages, will adequately redress plaintiffs’ injuries and provide assurances that defendants will not engage in future violations.

In addition, the Court finds that plaintiffs are not entitled by law to force defendants to give proportional representation to blacks in their advertising, nor is there any evidence in the record that such representation would be necessarily required to avoid indicating a racial preference. ...

V. 
Section 1981 and 1982 Claims.  Plaintiffs allege that defendants’ discriminatory advertising practices also violate 42 U.S.C. §§1981-82.  The Court deals with these claims jointly because the Supreme Court has held that the reach of these statutes is coextensive.  

Plaintiffs contend that because Lifestyle indicated a preference based on race, black persons were denied an equal right to make a contract for the rental of GSC property under Sections 1981 and 1982. Defendants argue that plaintiffs are not entitled to recover under either section both factually and as a matter of law.  Initially, they assert that, even if defendants’ publication of Lifestyle constituted a form of intentional discrimination, such discrimination is not cognizable under Sections 1981 and 1982.  They further contend that, even if plaintiffs’ allegations do state a cause of action under these statutes, plaintiffs have failed to prove that defendants had the requisite discriminatory intent.

A. 
Scope of Sections 1981 and 1982.  In the first instance, the Court must determine whether the conduct alleged–defendants’ intentional discrimination in publishing advertising that indicates a preference based on race–constitutes a violation of Section 1981 and/or 1982.  Such determination appears to present an issue of first impression, at least among published authority.

  
1. 
Section 1982.  Plaintiffs allege that defendants’ discriminatory advertising practices violate 42 U.S.C. §1982....  They contend that because Lifestyle indicated a preference based on race, black persons were denied an equal right to make a contract for the rental of GSC property.  Defendants assert that §1982 does not encompass such advertising claim, citing dictum in a 1968 Supreme Court decision as authority for their assertion.  See Jones v. Alfred H. Mayer Co., 392 U.S. 409 (1968).   

In Jones, the specific issue before the Court involved whether §1982 applied to private, and not only state, action in the sale or rental of property and, if so, whether such scope was constitutional.  In beginning its examination of the scope of §1982, the Court compared §1982 to the Fair Housing Act.  Unlike the Fair Housing Act, the Court explained, §1982 “is not a comprehensive open housing law.” The Court then noted several differences between the scope of the two statutes, noting as follows:

[Section 1982] does not deal specifically with discrimination in the provision of services or facilities in connection with the sale or rental of a dwelling.  It does not prohibit advertising or other representations that indicate discriminatory preferences.  It does not refer explicitly to discrimination in financing arrangements or in the provision of brokerage services.

In a footnote to the above-quoted language, the Court explained that, although §1982 does not specifically address discrimination in the provision of services or facilities, financing arrangements or brokerage services, the Court “intimates no view” upon whether such discrimination still might be covered under §§1982 and/or 1981. Notably, the Court did not apply such disclaimer to its statement that discriminatory advertising is not prohibited by §1982.  ...

Plaintiffs argue, correctly in the Court’s view, that the Supreme Court’s statements in Jones concerning preferential advertising, an issue not before the Court, do not constitute binding authority on the instant issue.  While we agree that such statements in dictum do not create binding precedent, however, they do provide insight into the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the intended scope of §1982.

As interpreted in Jones, §1982 “must encompass every racially motivated refusal to sell or rent.”  A survey of housing discrimination cases supports the interpretation that §1982 prohibits refusals to sell or rent based on race, and not the mere expression of a preference to sell or rent based on race.  Under the plain language of the statute itself, advertising that indicates a racial preference, while it may discourage blacks from exercising their right to rent certain property, does not deny them the opportunity to rent such property.

Thus, the Court finds no basis for interpreting §1982 to apply to advertising indicating a racial preference.  Certainly, the effect of such advertising can be as discriminatory and devastating as a direct refusal to rent.  Congress presumably recognized this fact, however, in enacting the broader, more detailed prohibitions of the Fair Housing Act.  Having determined that §1982 affords no cause of action for the instant advertising claims, the Court finds no authority to grant a more expansive interpretation of §1981.1  ... .
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

Advertiser Liability 
42:  Ragin, Saunders, and the Hunter case on which Ragin relies hold that an ad violates §3604(c) if it suggests to an “ordinary reader” a preference or dispreference for a particular protected category.  Who is an “ordinary reader”?  How might Ragin’s definition help a judge or jury to apply the test?  What type of evidence would you use to prove a violation of this test?  
43:  What intent must the defendant have to violate the ordinary reader test?  Is this consistent with the statutory language? Of what relevance is evidence of the advertiser’s understanding of the meaning of the ad?  
44:  Ragin, Saunders, and the other courts that have addressed the issue have all held that use of human models can violate the statute.  Does the statutory language support this interpretation?  Does it make sense as a matter of policy?   
45:  Look at 24 CFR §100.75(c)(3).  What does this regulation prohibit? Is the regulation a reasonable interpretation of §3604(c)?  What kinds of situations covered by the regulation seem to fit best with the policies of the statute?  What kinds fit least?
Newspaper Liability 
46:  What statutory arguments do you see about whether §3604(c) creates liability for   newspapers that run discriminatory ads.  What policy arguments support extending liability to newspapers?   What arguments do the newspapers make in Ragin that the application of the statute is too burdensome to them?   What is the court’s response?  Is it convincing?  
47:  What limitations does Ragin place on the scope of newspaper liability for publication of ads that employ human models in a way that violates the statute?  Are these limitations sufficient to protect the newspapers?  Too great?  

Meaning of the Ordinary Reader Test

48:  Some commentators have suggested that the test should focus on the views of an ordinary reader of the particular category that the ad is alleged to disfavor (e.g., “ordinary African-American reader”).  What evidence might you present to jurors who are not members of the category to help them understand what this type of ordinary reader believes?  What statutory and policy arguments could you make to a court considering adoption of this test?  

49:  Should the “ordinary reader” vary depending on the particular publication in which the ad appears?   
Application of the Ordinary Reader Test

50:  All the reported cases that have dealt with human models have addressed alleged preferences based on race or family status.  Should the cases be extended to cover handicap?  What might that entail?

51:  What is the best evidence for the plaintiff that the statute was violated in Saunders?  Of what relevance is the evidence of the advertiser’s intent? What arguments would you have made for the defendants that the statute was not violated?  What arguments would you have made to the court as plaintiff’s attorney about whether an injunction should issue?  About requiring proportional representation in future ads?
52:  What arguments can you make about whether any of the following statements would violate §3604(c) if made as part of housing ads:
a)  “ FOR RENT‑Furnished basement apartment. In private white home.”
b)  “ Divorced white professional female seeks roommate”

c)  “ Spanish speaker preferred”

d)  “ Perfect for Singles or Couple”

e)  “ Walking distance to shopping”

f)  “ Convenient to Knights of Columbus”
53:  What arguments can you make about whether the pool girls ad handed out in class violates the ordinary reader test with regard to “sex” or “familial status”?

54:  Suppose a developer wishes to advertise a new set of houses (“Fungible Estates”) built on the outskirts of a major city.  She runs ads on billboards across the city which say:  “We At The New Fungible Estates Development (Located at 17000 175th Ave) Believe That The Fair Housing Act is a Violation of Your Constitutional Rights to Property and Association.”  Does this violate the FHA?  
Statutory Questions
55:  An online web service allows people to post classified ads on its website.  The service does not edit the ads at all, but does provide an indexing system to facilitate online searches of the ads.  If one of the posted ads violates §3604(c), should the service be liable as a matter of statutory interpretation?   As a matter of policy?
56:  Saunders holds that discriminatory advertising does not violate §1982.  Assuming plaintiffs appealed that decision, what arguments would you make for each side based on the statutory language and Congressional intent?  In footnote 1, the court says that this statutory question is essentially irrelevant to the result in Saunders  anyway.  Can you think of a situation where it might matter?
57:  How do the Wisconsin and Miami Beach provisions on advertising differ from those in §3404(c)?  Can you identify situations where the differences in language would yield different results?  
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Written Assignment #3: 
Counseling a Client on an Advertisement

Due: Thursday March 8 (9:00 p.m.)



For this assignment, you will be providing advice to a client about a housing advertisement. For general instructions for all assignments, see pages 36-37. Directions specific to this assignment are provided below.  You (and your partners, if any) will hand in one joint work-product, which should be 4-6 double-spaced pages long.



In class, I will provide you with a copy of an advertisement that actually ran in a magazine. Assume that the client has submitted the ad for review by your law firm prior to publishing it in several South Florida and national magazines.  Assume also that the local Fair Housing agency has been actively prosecuting advertising cases. Although your focus should be on counseling the client, assume that you are writing for a partner in the firm and not directly addressing your client.  Your submissions can be in the form of annotated lists, outlines, narrative paragraphs, or any combination of these. Your work product will have two parts, which should be clearly and separately labeled:

(A) What potential liability problems do you see under §3604(c)?  Identify any protected characteristics that you think might be the basis for a §3604(c) claim against your client.  For each, explain why the advertisement might be a problem, pointing out all specific details that might be relevant.

(B) What suggestions would you make to help decrease the client’s exposure?  Identify possible specific changes to the advertisement the client might make that would remain consistent with the client’s existing marketing strategy but might reduce the likelihood of a 3604(c) violation.  Explain the purpose of each change. You need to suggest changes that address each characteristic you identified as a possible source of liability in (A).  You might also suggest more general changes that you think might help limit liability.  Keep in mind that the client’s goal is to market housing to relatively wealthy buyers who want a lifestyle that is more urban, more sporting, more prestigious, and more private than a typical suburban house.



In grading the submissions I will reward:

(i) clear presentation;

(ii) attention to detail, both in identifying concerns and in addressing them;

(iii) understanding the relevant legal tests; 

(iv) awareness of and adherence to the client’s goals; and

(v) creative solutions.

C.  “Benign” Discrimination

1.  Justifications for Sex Discrimination

UNITED STATES v. REECE

457 F. Supp. 43 (D. Mont. 1978) 

BATTIN, District Judge: This case arose out of a fair housing complaint filed with the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) by two airmen stationed at Logan Field near Billings, Montana, alleging that they were denied housing in an apartment owned by the defendants on the basis of race.  ... Discovery undertaken pursuant to this complaint led the plaintiff to file an amended complaint alleging that, in addition to the racial discrimination outlined above, defendant Cleone Reece has maintained certain policies which allegedly discriminate on the basis of sex in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3604.  Presently pending is the motion of the United States for partial summary judgment on the issues of sex discrimination .... 

[T]he amended complaint alleges that Cleone Reece has engaged in a pattern or practice of sex discrimination.... The allegation is based on statements by Cleone Reece in her deposition and answers to interrogatories, and admissions made in defendant’s brief, to the effect that defendant refused to rent certain apartments to single women without cars, and that defendant did not consider alimony and child support payments in determining whether a divorced woman would meet the defendant’s requirements regarding ability to pay rent.

Defendant apparently does not dispute the fact that she adheres to the above-described policies.  However, she does deny that the policies contravene the provisions of 42 U.S.C. §3604....  In particular, defendant argues that she requires certain of her single woman tenants to have cars for their own protection,12 and that she doesn’t discriminate against divorced women.

It is somewhat difficult to perceive the impact of defendant’s alimony-child support argument, since it has been poorly briefed by defense counsel. The only defense offered is a statement in Cleone Reece’s unsigned deposition to the effect that divorced women “are sometimes the best pay.”  I find that this statement is insufficient to outweigh the fact that the defendant’s requirement that potential tenants “qualify” by demonstrating an economic ability to pay rent is applied in such a manner as to place an unequal burden on women applicants.  I therefore conclude that defendant has offered no legal defense to this issue, and that summary judgment should be granted based on the factual admissions of the defendant.

Defendant’s policy toward single women is more clearcut: she simply does not rent certain of her apartments to single women unless they have cars. It is not denied that a similarly situated male, i.e., a single man without a car, would not be disqualified on that basis.  The defendant attempts to justify this approach by stating that single women without cars are excluded from renting the apartments in question because the neighborhood in which the apartments are situated is poorly lit, and that the risk of assault or rape “or worse” against these women in walking to and from the apartments is great.  I find this defense to be insufficient as a matter of law.  A violation of the Fair Housing Act can be proved without establishing a malevolent or unlawful intent.  Since this is so, an allegedly benign motivation, especially one as paternalistic and overbroad as the one presented here, cannot provide a defense.

This is simply a case where the plaintiff’s prima facie case is made by the undisputed testimony of the defendants’ depositions, briefs, and answers to interrogatories.  Since the defendant has offered no defense sufficient to rebut the damaging impact of her own statements, I will grant summary judgment as to this issue.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

58.  Wisc. Stat. §106.50(5m)(em)(2) allows people seeking roommates to advertise that they prefer roommates of a particular sex.  It does not allow the same type of advertising for racial or religious preferences.   What policies support this distinction?  Would it be better to allow any type of discrimination in roommate advertising?  No discrimination at all?  HUD has similarly indicated it will not prosecute roommate ads that indicate a preference based on sex.  Should HUD draw this distinction when the FHA does not?
59.  In Reece, the landlord claimed that the local neighborhood was unsafe for women without cars.  Assuming that this is true, why shouldn’t a landlord be able to use safety as a reason to choose between potential applicants?  Would it violate the FHA to simply tell women (but not men) without cars about the crime in the neighborhood?
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BRAUNSTEIN v. DWELLING MANAGERS, INC. 

476 F.Supp. 1323 (S. D. N.Y. 1979)

PIERCE, District Judge:  This is an action brought by four single parents and their respective four children who claim that because of their sex they have been denied rental of two bedroom apartments in Manhattan Plaza, a federally-subsidized ... housing complex. Defendants are the owners and managers of Manhattan Plaza. … 


The facts are undisputed. Defendants acknowledge that a single parent with a child of the same sex is restricted to rental of a one bedroom apartment whereas a single parent with a child of the opposite sex is permitted to rent a two bedroom unit. Defendants claim that they are enforcing a policy instituted by the New York City Department of Housing Preservation and Development (HPD), the municipal agency which supervises Manhattan Plaza. An affidavit from Ruth Lerner, Assistant Commissioner of HPD, agrees that this is HPD’s policy based on its interpretation of regulations promulgated by the agency.  Defendants further maintain that the policy comports with federal guidelines.4  Plaintiffs, on the other hand, attack the policy as violating the Fair Housing Act ... and the equal protection and due process clauses of the Constitution.

Fair Housing Act.   Section 3604, enacted in 1968, was designed primarily to remedy racial discrimination in the rental or sale of housing.  ...  In 1974, the section was amended to prohibit sex discrimination also.


There are few cases deciding charges of sex discrimination, and detailing the parameters of the statute.  The facts here present the Court with a case of first impression in defining the limits of sex discrimination under §3604.  While sex discrimination is not specifically defined in the statute, cases construing similar language in Title VII ... have held that discrimination must involve “disparate treatment.” “[S]ex discrimination results when the opportunities or benefits offered . . .to one gender are less valuable or more restricted than those offered to the other.” DeLaurier v. San Diego Unified School District, 588 F.2d 674, 677 (9th Cir. 1978).


The Court does not find present in this case the requisite difference in treatment which would justify a finding of discrimination. A mother and daughter who reside together receive the same treatment as a father and son; neither family is eligible for rental of a two bedroom apartment. Since the essence of sex discrimination is the difference in treatment of the individual based on gender, and males and females receive similar treatment from the defendants, there is no sex discrimination.


An analogous situation was reviewed by the Fourth Circuit in a case in which plaintiff charged sex discrimination when she lost her job because of a municipal ordinance which banned commercial massages by members of the opposite sex. The court concluded that the statute was not discriminatory since “the restrictions imposed ... apply equally to males and females; neither can perform massages on customers who are members of the opposite sex.” Aldred v. Duling, 538 F.2d 637, 638 (4th Cir. 1976).9 


Plaintiffs urge the Court to rely on the Title VII discrimination test recently set forth in City of Los Angeles Dep’t of Water and Power v. Manhart, 435 U.S. 702, 711 (1978), to wit: “whether the evidence shows ‘treatment of a person in a manner which but for that person’s sex would be different.’ “ Plaintiffs contend that “but for” their sex they would be housed in larger apartments. They argue that if all other circumstances remained constant and one of the plaintiffs were of the opposite sex, e.g., if a male parent with a male child were a female parent with a male child, that family would receive a larger apartment.


However, the Court finds that the variable which determines allocation of two bedroom apartments is not the sex of the individual plaintiffs, but the composition of the family unit. A female parent with a female child and a male parent with a male child receive one bedroom apartments; a female parent with a male child and a male parent with a female child receive two bedroom apartments. Distinctions based upon factors other than the individual’s sex do not constitute sex-based discrimination. See General Electric Co. v. Gilbert, 429 U.S. 125, 134-35 (1976).10

The Court concludes that defendants’ housing allocation procedure is gender-neutral, equally affecting both men and women. Accordingly, it does not constitute sex discrimination in violation of the Fair Housing Act.

Equal Protection.  Plaintiffs also charge that defendants’ housing policy classifies potential tenants and distributes apartments on the basis of gender in violation of the equal protection clause of the Constitution.11 


At the outset, it should be noted that the policy by which defendants distribute apartments does not appear to be a gender-based classification of a type outlawed by the equal protection clause. The traditional equal protection case involves a classification that distinguishes broadly between males and females. In such cases, gender is often used “as an inaccurate proxy for other, more germane bases of classification.” Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S.190, 198 (1976).12  Yet, as has been stated previously, the underlying classification and determination of eligibility in the instant case rests on the composition of the family unit rather than the gender of the applicant. This is not a case where sex stereotyping is used as a convenient substitute for more accurate classifying criteria. 


However, even if the Court were to agree that classification of the family unit and the allocation of living space were based upon gender, defendants’ housing policy would withstand equal protection scrutiny nevertheless. ... [T]he Supreme Court has held that to withstand equal protection scrutiny “classifications by gender must serve important governmental objectives and must be substantially related to achievement of those objectives.” Orr v. Orr, 440 U.S. 268, 279 (1979), quoting Califano v. Webster, 430 U.S. 313, 316-17 (1977).


Defendants contend that the objectives of their policy are twofold: to maximize the number of persons who may occupy subsidized housing and to reduce the per capita cost of such subsidy. Rent ... is determined as a percentage of total family income; the federal subsidy provides the difference between the rent an eligible tenant pays and the actual cost of the apartment.14  It is acknowledged that there is no Constitutional right to housing of a particular size or quality. In this context and given the need to maximize use of available apartment space, the government’s interest would best be served by allocating one bedroom apartments to all single parent families. ...


However, in allocating space in Manhattan Plaza, an exception has been carved out where the best interest of parent and child may require separate sleeping accommodations. Reasonable land use regulations are permissible if they protect the public health, safety, morals or general welfare. Euclid v. Ambler, 272 U.S. 365 (1926). The general welfare is not to be narrowly construed; it embraces abroad range of governmental purposes. 


In specifying the public interest and general welfare they wish to protect, defendants have argued persuasively that the healthy psycho-social and sexual development of single parents and their children of the opposite sex are best served when each family member has his or her own bedroom.15 Moreover, they claim that individual sleeping arrangements reduce the likelihood of incest and problems relating to gender misidentification. Common societal experience and conventional wisdom confirm that beyond a certain age children ought not to share the same bedroom with a person of the opposite sex.  


Plaintiffs respond that empirical research on the potential psychological harm of having a single parent and child of the opposite sex share the same bedroom is limited. However, they do not refute the contention that a significant amount of social and emotional maldevelopment may be avoided where single parents and children of the opposite sex are given two bedroom apartments.


The Court recognizes plaintiffs’ contention that the privacy need of each family member would best be served if all single parent families with one child were given two bedroom apartments. However, limited federal and municipal resources preclude this alternative. Yet, maximizing use of federal housing subsidies and protecting the physical and mental welfare of the citizenry are certainly legitimate and substantial state interests. This Court should not “second guess” the government agency which recognized these traditional societal values and economic realities and sought to protect them. Village of Belle Terre v. Boraas, 416 U.S. 1, 8 (1974).


Classifications do not violate equal protection merely because they may be imperfect, imprecise or underinclusive. Where, as here, a standard has evolved which bears a substantial relationship to an important state interest, and which does not use sex as a convenient administrative substitute for a more accurate classifying characteristic, there is no equal protection violation.  ...

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

60.  The defendants’ policy in Braunstein treats single-parent families differently if the parent and child are of different sexes.  The court says that this is not sex discrimination because both sexes are treated the same.   Suppose the policy was to treat married couples differently if the husband and wife were of different races.  Could you argue that this is not race discrimination because all races are treated alike?  If not, why are the two cases different?
61.  Assume that in these one parent-one child families 50% of the children are boys and 50% girls.  Assume also that 90% of the single parents are women.  What group of people are rendered worse off under the policy?
62.  The court in Braunstein says that any sex discrimination is substantially related to the important state interest in protecting the children from harm.  What harms does the court see as arising from parents sharing space with children of the other sex?  Are these harms important?  Is the policy substantially related to preventing them?  
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
2.  Integration Maintenance

UNITED STATES v. STARRETT CITY ASSOCIATES
840 F.2d 1096 (2d Cir. 1988)

MINER, Circuit Judge: The United States Attorney General, on behalf of the United States (“the government”), commenced this action under Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 against defendants‑appellants Starrett City Associates, Starrett City, Inc. and Delmar Management Company (collectively, “Starrett”).  The government maintained that Starrett’s practices of renting apartments in its Brooklyn housing complex solely on the basis of applicants’ race or national origin, and of making apartments unavailable to black and Hispanic applicants that are then made available to white applicants, violate  the Act.   The district court granted summary judgment in favor of the government and permanently enjoined appellants from discriminating on the basis of race in the rental of apartments.  Starrett appeals from this judgment.

Background. Appellants constructed, own and operate “Starrett City,” the largest housing development in the nation, consisting of 46 high‑rise buildings containing 5,881 apartments in Brooklyn, New York.  The complex’s rental office opened in December 1973.  The United Housing Foundation abandoned a project to build a development of cooperative apartments at the Starrett City site in 1971.  Starrett proposed to construct rental units on the site on the condition that the New York City Board of Estimate approve a transfer to Starrett of the city real estate tax abatement granted to the original project.  The transfer created “substantial community opposition” because “the neighborhood surrounding the project and past experience with subsidized housing” created fear that “the conversion to rental apartments would result in Starrett City’s becoming an overwhelmingly minority development.” The transfer was approved, however, “upon the assurance of Starrett City’s developer that it was intended to create a racially integrated community.” 

Starrett has sought to maintain a racial distribution by apartment of 64% white, 22% black and 8% Hispanic at Starrett City.  Starrett claims that these racial quotas are necessary to prevent the loss of white tenants, which would transform Starrett City into a predominantly minority complex.  Starrett points to the difficulty it has had in attracting an integrated applicant pool from the time Starrett City opened, despite extensive advertising and promotional efforts.  Because of these purported difficulties, Starrett adopted a tenanting procedure to promote and maintain the desired racial balance.  This procedure has resulted in relatively stable percentages of whites and minorities living at Starrett City between 1975 and the present. 

The tenanting procedure requires completion of a preliminary information card stating, inter alia, the applicant’s race or national origin, family composition, income and employment.  The rental office at Starrett City receives and reviews these applications.  Those that are found preliminarily eligible, based on family composition, income, employment and size of apartment sought, are placed in “the active file,” in which separate records by race are maintained for apartment sizes and income levels.  Applicants are told in an acknowledgement letter that no apartments are presently available, but that their applications have been placed in the active file and that they will be notified when a unit becomes available for them.  When an apartment becomes available, applicants are selected from the active file for final processing, creating a processed applicant pool.  As vacancies arise, applicants of a race or national origin similar to that of the departing tenants are selected from the pool and offered apartments.

In December 1979, a group of black applicants brought an action against Starrett. Plaintiffs alleged that Starrett’s tenanting procedures violated federal and state law by discriminating against them on the basis of race.  The parties stipulated to a settlement in May 1984, and a consent decree was entered subsequently.  The decree provided that Starrett would, depending on apartment availability, make an additional 35 units available each year for a five‑year period to black and minority applicants.  

The government commenced the present action against Starrett in June 1984, “to place before the [c]ourt the issue joined but left expressly unresolved” in the Arthur consent decree:  the “legality of defendants’ policy and practice of limiting the number of apartments available to minorities in order to maintain a prescribed degree of racial balance.” The complaint alleged that Starrett, through its tenanting policies, discriminated in violation of the Fair Housing Act.  Specifically, the government maintained that Starrett violated the Act by making apartments unavailable to blacks solely because of race, 42 U.S.C. §3604(a);  by forcing black applicants to wait significantly longer for apartments than whites solely because of race, §3604(b);  by enforcing a policy that prefers white applicants while limiting the numbers of minority applicants accepted, §3604(c); and by representing in an acknowledgement letter that no apartments are available for rental when in fact units are available, §3604(d).  
[In its motion opposing summary judgment,] Starrett maintained that the tenanting procedures “were adopted at the behest of the [s]tate solely to achieve and maintain integration and were not motivated by racial animus.”  To support their position, appellants submitted the written testimony of three housing experts. They described the “white flight” and “tipping” phenomena, in which white residents migrate out of a community as the community becomes poor and the minority population increases, resulting in the transition to a predominantly minority community.  Acknowledging that “‘the tipping point for a particular housing development, depending as it does on numerous factors and the uncertainties of human behavior, is difficult to predict with precision,’” one expert stated that the point at which tipping occurs has been estimated at from 1% to 60% minority population, but that the consensus ranged between 10% and 20%. Another expert, who had prepared a report in 1980 on integration at Starrett City for the New York State Division of Housing and Community Renewal, estimated the complex’s tipping point at approximately 40% black on a population basis.  A third expert, who had been involved in integrated housing ventures since the 1950’s, found that a 2:1 white‑minority ratio produced successful integration. 

The court, however, accepted the government’s contention that Starrett’s practices of making apartments unavailable for blacks, while reserving them for whites, and conditioning rental to minorities based on a “tipping formula” derived only from race or national origin are clear violations of the Fair Housing Act.  The district court found that apartment opportunities for blacks and Hispanics were far fewer “than would be expected if race and national origin were not taken into account,” while opportunities for whites were substantially greater than what their application rates projected.  Minority applicants waited up to ten times longer than the average white applicant before they were offered an apartment.  Starrett City’s active file was 21.9% white in October 1985, but whites occupied 64.7% of the apartments in January 1984.  Although the file was 53.7% black and 18% Hispanic in October 1985, blacks and Hispanics, respectively, occupied only 20.8% and 7.9% of the apartments as of January 1984. Appellants did not dispute this.  Further, the court found that appellants’ tipping argument was undercut by the “wide elasticity of that standard” and the lack of difficulty they had in increasing their black quota from 21% to 35% “when it became necessary to avoid litigating the private Arthur lawsuit which threatened their unlawful rental practices.”  The court also found that Starrett violated the Act by making untrue representations of apartment unavailability to qualified minority applicants in order to reserve units for whites.  Finally, the court rejected Starrett’s claim that the duty imposed upon government to achieve housing integration justified its actions, stating that “[d]efendants cannot arrogate to themselves the powers” of a public housing authority.  

The court concluded that Starrett’s obligation was “simply and solely to comply with the Fair Housing Act” by treating “black and other minority applicants ... on the same basis as whites in seeking available housing at Starrett City.”  The court noted that Starrett did not dispute any of the operative facts alleged to show violations of the Fair Housing Act.   Accordingly, Judge Neaher granted summary judgment for the government, enjoining Starrett from discriminating against applicants on the basis of race and “[r]equiring [them] to adopt written, objective, uniform, nondiscriminatory tenant selection standards and procedures” subject to the court’s approval.    On appeal, Starrett presses arguments similar to those it made before the district court.  We affirm the district court’s judgment.

Discussion.  Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 was enacted pursuant to Congress’ thirteenth amendment powers “to provide, within constitutional limitations, for fair housing throughout the United States.”  42 U.S.C. §3601.   Housing practices unlawful under Title VIII include not only those motivated by a racially discriminatory purpose, but also those that disproportionately affect minorities.  See, e.g., Robinson v. 12 Lofts Realty, Inc. 610 F.2d 1032, 1036‑37 (2d Cir.1979).   Starrett’s allocation of public housing facilities on the basis of racial quotas, by denying an applicant access to a unit otherwise available solely because of race, produces a “discriminatory effect ... [that] could hardly be clearer,” Burney v. Housing Auth., 551 F.Supp. 746, 770 (W.D.Pa.1982). Appellants do not contend that the plain language of section 3604 does not proscribe their practices.  Rather, they claim to be “clothed with governmental authority” and thus obligated, under Otero v. New York City Housing Auth., 484 F.2d 1122 (2d Cir.1973), to effectuate the purpose of the Fair Housing Act by affirmatively promoting integration and preventing “the reghettoization of a model integrated community.”  We need not decide whether Starrett is a state actor, however.  Even if Starrett were a state actor with such a duty, the racial quotas and related practices employed at Starrett City to maintain integration violate the antidiscrimination provisions of the Act.

Both Starrett and the government cite to the legislative history of the Fair Housing Act in support of their positions.  This history consists solely of statements from the floor of Congress.  These statements reveal “that at the time that Title VIII was enacted, Congress believed that strict adherence to the anti‑discrimination provisions of the [A]ct” would eliminate “racially discriminatory housing practices [and] ultimately would result in residential integration.” Thus, Congress saw the antidiscrimination policy as the means to effect the antisegregation‑integration policy. While quotas promote Title VIII’s integration policy, they contravene its antidiscrimination policy, bringing the dual goals of the Act into conflict.  The legislative history provides no further guidance for resolving this conflict.

We therefore look to analogous provisions of federal law enacted to prohibit segregation and discrimination as guides in determining to what extent racial criteria may be used to maintain integration.  Both the thirteenth amendment, pursuant to which Title VIII was enacted, and the fourteenth amendment empower Congress to act in eradicating racial discrimination, and both the fourteenth amendment and Title VIII are informed by the congressional goal of eradicating racial discrimination through the principle of antidiscrimination.  Further, the parallel between the antidiscrimination objectives of Title VIII and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, has been recognized. Thus, the Supreme Court’s analysis of what constitutes permissible race‑conscious affirmative action under provisions of federal law with goals similar to those of Title VIII provides a framework for examining the affirmative use of racial quotas under the Fair Housing Act.

Although any racial classification is presumptively discriminatory, a race‑conscious affirmative action plan does not necessarily violate federal constitutional or statutory provisions. However, a race‑conscious plan cannot be “ageless in [its] reach into the past, and timeless in [its] ability to affect the future.”  Wygant v. Jackson Bd. of Educ., 476 U.S. 267 (1986) (plurality opinion).  A plan employing racial distinctions must be temporary in nature with a defined goal as its termination point.  See, e.g., Johnson v. Transportation Agency, 107 S.Ct. 1442 (1987).  Moreover, we observe that societal discrimination alone seems “insufficient and over expansive” as the basis for adopting so‑called “benign” practices with discriminatory effects “that work against innocent people,” Wygant, 106 S.Ct. at 1848, in the drastic and burdensome way that rigid racial quotas do.  Furthermore, the use of quotas generally should be based on some history of racial discrimination, see id. at 1847, or imbalance, see Johnson, 107 S.Ct. at 1452‑53, within the entity seeking to employ them.  Finally, measures designed to increase or ensure minority participation, such as “access” quotas have generally been upheld.  However, programs designed to maintain integration by limiting minority participation, such as ceiling quotas are of doubtful validity because they “‘single[ ] out those least well represented in the political process to bear the brunt of a benign program,’ “ Fullilove [v. Klutznick], 448 U.S. 448, 519 (1980) (Marshall, J., concurring) (quoting Regents v. Bakke, 438 U.S. 265, 361 (1978) (Brennan, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part)).

Starrett’s use of ceiling quotas to maintain integration at Starrett City lacks each of these characteristics.  First, Starrett City’s practices have only the goal of integration maintenance.  The quotas already have been in effect for ten years.  Appellants predict that their race‑conscious tenanting practices must continue for at least fifteen more years, but fail to explain adequately how that approximation was reached.  In any event, these practices are far from temporary.  Since the goal of integration maintenance is purportedly threatened by the potential for “white flight” on a continuing basis, no definite termination date for Starrett’s quotas is perceivable.  Second, appellants do not assert, and there is no evidence to show, the existence of prior racial discrimination or discriminatory imbalance adversely affecting whites within Starrett City or appellants’ other complexes.  On the contrary, Starrett City was initiated as an integrated complex, and Starrett’s avowed purpose for employing race‑based tenanting practices is to maintain that initial integration.  Finally, Starrett’s quotas do not provide minorities with access to Starrett City, but rather act as a ceiling to their access.  Thus, the impact of appellants’ practices falls squarely on minorities, for whom Title VIII was intended to open up housing opportunities.  Starrett claims that its use of quotas serves to keep the numbers of minorities entering Starrett City low enough to avoid setting off a wave of “white flight.”  Although the “white flight” phenomenon may be a factor “take[n] into account in the integration equation,” Parent Ass’n of Andrew Jackson High School v. Ambach, 598 F.2d 705, 720 (2d Cir.1979), it cannot serve to justify attempts to maintain integration at Starrett City through inflexible racial quotas that are neither temporary in nature nor used to remedy past racial discrimination or imbalance within the complex.

Appellants’ reliance on Otero is misplaced.  In Otero, the New York City Housing Authority (“NYCHA”) relocated over 1800 families in the Lower East Side of Manhattan to make way for the construction of new apartment buildings.  Pursuant to its regulations, NYCHA offered the former site occupants first priority of returning to any housing built within the urban renewal area.  However, because the response by the largely minority former site residents seeking to return was nearly seven times greater than expected, NYCHA declined to follow its regulation in order to avoid creating a “pocket ghetto” that would “tip” an integrated community towards a predominantly minority community. It instead rented up half of these apartments to non‑former site occupants, 88% of whom were white.  

In a suit brought by former site occupants who were denied the promised priority, the district court held as a matter of law that “affirmative action to achieve racially balanced communities was not permitted where it would result in depriving minority groups” of public housing.  This court reversed , stating that public housing authorities had a federal constitutional and statutory duty “to fulfill, as much as possible, the goal of open, integrated residential housing patterns and to prevent the increase of segregation, in ghettos,” but we recognized that “the effect in some instances might be to prevent some members of a racial minority from residing in publicly assisted housing in a particular location.”  

Otero does not, however, control in this case.  The challenge in Otero did not involve procedures for the long‑term maintenance of specified levels of integration, but rather, the rental of 171 of 360 new apartments to non‑former site occupants, predominantly white, although former site residents, largely minority, sought those apartments and were entitled to priority under NYCHA’s own regulation.  The Otero court did not delineate the statutory or constitutional limits on permissible means of integration, but held only that NYCHA’s rent‑up practice could not be declared invalid as a matter of law under those limits.  In fact, the court in Otero observed that the use of race‑conscious tenanting practices might allow landlords “to engage in social engineering, subject only to general undefined control through judicial supervision” and could “constitute a form of unlawful racial discrimination.” 

It is particularly important to note that the NYCHA action challenged in Otero only applied to a single event—the initial rent up of the new complexes—and determined tenancy in the first instance alone.  NYCHA sought only to prevent the immediate creation of a “pocket ghetto” in the Lower East Side, which had experienced a steady loss of white population, that would tip the precarious racial balance there, resulting in increased white flight and inevitable “non‑white ghettoization of the community.” Further, the suspension of NYCHA’s regulation did not operate as a strict racial quota, because the former site residents entitled to a rental priority were approximately 40% white.  As a one‑time measure in response to the special circumstances of the Lower East Side in the early 1970’s, the action challenged in Otero had an impact on non‑whites as a group far less burdensome or discriminatory than Starrett City’s continuing practices.

Conclusion.  We do not intend to imply that race is always an inappropriate consideration under Title VIII in efforts to promote integrated housing.  We hold only that Title VIII does not allow appellants to use rigid racial quotas of indefinite duration to maintain a fixed level of integration at Starrett City by restricting minority access to scarce and desirable rental accommodations otherwise available to them.  We therefore affirm the judgment of the district court.

JON O. NEWMAN, Circuit Judge, dissenting: Congress enacted the Fair Housing Act to prohibit racial segregation in housing.  Starrett City is one of the most successful examples in the nation of racial integration in housing.  I respectfully dissent because I do not believe that Congress intended the Fair Housing Act to prohibit the maintenance of racial integration in private housing.

I. 
... The development of Starrett City as an apartment complex committed to a deliberate policy of maintained racial integration has at all times occurred with the knowledge, encouragement, and financial support of the agency of the United States directly concerned with housing, the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  Under a contract between HUD and Starrett City, the federal government pays all but one percent of the debt service of the mortgage loan extended to Starrett City by the New York State Housing Finance Agency (HFA).  By March 1986 HUD had paid HFA more than $211 million on Starrett City’s behalf.  In exchange for this interest subsidy, Starrett City agreed to limit the rent for eligible tenants to a monthly figure specified by HUD or to a stated percentage of the tenant’s monthly income (initially 25%, now 30%), whichever is greater.  In addition, HUD has provided rental subsidies for tenants with low incomes.  Since 1981 these rental subsidies have been nearly $22 million a year.

Despite its close cooperation in the development of Starrett City as an integrated housing complex, the United States now sues Starrett City to force it to abandon the rental policies that have enabled it to maintain racial integration.  The bringing of the suit raises a substantial question as to the Government’s commitment to integrated housing.  The timing of the suit puts that commitment further in doubt.  In 1979 a class of Black applicants for housing at Starrett City brought suit to challenge on federal statutory and constitutional grounds the same tenant selection policies at issue in this case. With the federal government observing from the sidelines, the parties to [that] litigation engaged in protracted settlement negotiations.  More than four years later, a mutually advantageous settlement was reached.  Starrett City was permitted to continue its policy of maintaining integration through its tenant selection policies.  In return, Starrett City agreed to increase by three percent over five years the proportion of rental units occupied by minority tenants.  At the same time, DHCR, the state housing agency, which was also a defendant in the Arthur litigation, agreed to take affirmative steps to promote housing opportunities for minorities in DHCR‑supervised housing projects in New York City. Specifically, the State agency agreed to give a priority in other projects to minority applicants on the Starrett City waiting list.  No member of the class of minority applicants for housing at Starrett City objected to the settlement.  Thus, the needs of the minority class for whose benefit the suit had been brought were met to their satisfaction by providing for more rental opportunities both at Starrett City and elsewhere.  Just one month after that settlement was reached, the United States filed this suit, ostensibly concerned with vindication of the rights of the same minority applicants for housing who had just settled their dispute on favorable terms.

II. 
The only issue in this case is whether Starrett City’s rental policies violate Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 The defendants do not dispute that their rental policies fall within the literal language of Title VIII’s prohibition on discriminatory housing practices.  Instead they contend that  their race‑conscious policies further the compelling state interest of promoting integrated housing and are narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.  At a minimum, they contend, they are entitled to a trial on the merits to prove their claim.

In my view, the defendants are entitled to prevail simply on the statutory issue to which the Government has limited its lawsuit.  Though the terms of the statute literally encompass the defendants’ actions, the statute was never intended to apply to such actions.  This statute was intended to bar perpetuation of segregation.  To apply it to bar maintenance of integration is precisely contrary to the congressional policy “to provide, within constitutional limitations, for fair housing throughout the United States.” 42 U.S.C. §3601.  We have been wisely cautioned by Learned Hand that “[t]here is no surer way to misread a document than to read it literally.” That aphorism is not always true with respect to statutes, whose text is always the starting point for analysis and sometimes the ending point.  But literalism is not always the appropriate approach even with statutes, as the Supreme Court long ago recognized:  “It is a familiar rule, that a thing may be within the letter of the statute and yet not within the statute, because not within its spirit, nor within the intent of its makers.”  Church of the Holy Trinity v. United States, 143 U.S. 457, 459 (1892).

Title VIII bars discriminatory housing practices in order to end segregated housing.  Starrett City is not promoting segregated housing.  On the contrary, it is maintaining integrated housing.  It is surely not within the spirit of the Fair Housing Act to enlist the Act to bar integrated housing.  Nor is there any indication that application of the statute toward such a perverse end was within the intent of those who enacted the statute.  It is true that there are some statements in the legislative history that broadly condemn discrimination for “any” reason.  Senator Mondale, the principal sponsor of Title VIII, said that “we do not see any good reason or justification, in the first place, for permitting discrimination in the sale or rental of housing.”  But his context, like that in which the entire debate occurred, concerned maintenance of segregation, not integration.  His point was that there was no reason for discriminating against a Black who wished to live in a previously all‑White housing project.  He explicitly decried the prospect that “we are going to live separately in white ghettos and Negro ghettos.”  The purpose of Title VIII, he said, was to replace the ghettos “by truly integrated and balanced living patterns.”  As he pointed out, “[O]ne of the biggest problems we face is the lack of experience in actually living next to Negroes.”  Starrett City is committed to the proposition that Blacks and Whites shall live next to each other.  A law enacted to enhance the opportunity for people of all races to live next to each other should not be interpreted to prevent a landlord from maintaining one of the most successful integrated housing projects in America.

None of the legislators who enacted Title VIII ever expressed a view on whether they wished to prevent the maintenance of racially balanced housing. Most of those who passed this statute in 1968 probably could not even contemplate a private real estate owner who would deliberately set out to achieve a racially balanced tenant population.  Had they thought of such an eventuality, there is not the slightest reason to believe that they would have raised their legislative hands against it.

This Circuit has previously ruled that Title VIII does not apply literally to prohibit racially based rental policies adopted to promote integration.  Otero.  In that case a public housing authority had committed itself by regulation to give first priority for rental housing to applicants who had been displaced by construction of the project.  The housing authority then disregarded its own regulation, based on its apprehension that giving first priority to the class of those displaced from the site, most of whom were non‑White, would cause the project to pass the so‑called “tipping point” and become predominantly non‑White.  The first question in Otero was whether the authority’s deliberate decision not to honor its priority policy because the benefitted class was predominantly non‑White violated Title VIII.  The Court held that the Act was not violated simply because a race‑conscious decision had been made in connection with rental policy: 

Congress’ desire in providing fair housing throughout the United States was to stem the spread of urban ghettos and to promote open, integrated housing, even though the effect in some instances might be to prevent some members of a racial minority from residing in publicly assisted housing in a particular location.

Once the Court decided that a race‑conscious rental policy did not necessarily violate the Act, it then faced the difficult issue in the case—whether the Act imposed an affirmative duty to promote integration of sufficient force to permit the authority to violate its own regulation.  On that issue, the Court also ruled in favor of the authority, remanding for a trial at which the defendant could establish that its apprehension concerning a “tipping point” was well founded and that abandonment of its priority policy was necessary to promote integration.

Our case is much easier than Otero.  Starrett City is not seeking to be released from a commitment it has previously made to any of the applicants for housing.  To prevail it need not find in Title VIII some affirmative obligation compelling it to promote integration.  It has freely chosen to promote integration and is entitled to prevail unless something in Title VIII forbids its voluntary policy.  If anything in Title VIII prohibited race‑conscious rental policies adopted to promote integration, Otero would have been summarily decided against the defendant.

Acknowledging the significance of the ruling in Otero, the Court distinguishes it essentially on the ground that Otero involved a policy of limited duration, applicable only to the period in which those displaced from the site were applying for housing in the new project, whereas Starrett City seeks to pursue a long‑term policy of maintaining integration.  I see nothing in the text or legislative history of Title VIII that supports such a distinction.  If, as the Court holds, Title VIII bars Starrett City’s race‑conscious rental policy, even though adopted to promote and maintain integration, then it would bar such policies whether adopted on a short‑term or a long‑term basis.  Since the Act makes no distinction among the durations of rental policies alleged to violate its terms, Otero’s upholding of a race‑conscious rental policy adopted to promote integration cannot be ignored simply because the policy was of limited duration.4 

But even if Title VIII can somehow be construed to make the lawfulness of a race‑conscious rental policy that promotes integration turn on the duration of the policy, Starrett City is entitled to a trial so that it can prove its contention that its policy is still needed to maintain integration. In the District Court the Government, though seeking summary judgment, contested Starrett City’s factual contention that a race‑conscious rental policy was currently needed to prevent the complex from passing the “tipping point” and becoming segregated.  The Government relied on a brief affidavit of a HUD employee, who made primarily the unremarkable observation that it is difficult to predict with any certainty the precise “tipping point” in a particular neighborhood.  In opposing summary judgment, Starrett City presented detailed affidavits providing abundant evidence to show that abandonment of its rental policies would cause the complex to pass the “tipping point” and soon become a segregated development.  This evidence was solidly based on relevant experience.  Several housing developments near Starrett City, operating without a policy of integration maintenance, have become racially segregated, including one across the street from Starrett City.

Otero established for this Circuit that a race‑conscious rental policy adopted to promote integration does not violate Title VIII and that a defendant must be afforded an opportunity to demonstrate at a trial that its rental policy is needed to prevent a housing complex from becoming segregated. Starrett City’s affidavit evidence may well be sufficient to entitle it to summary judgment on this issue of continued need for a race‑conscious rental policy to maintain integration.  At a minimum it is entitled to a trial to present its evidence to a trier of fact.

Whether integration of private housing complexes should be maintained through the use of race‑conscious rental policies that deny minorities an equal opportunity to rent is a highly controversial issue of social policy.  There is a substantial argument against imposing any artificial burdens on minorities in their quest for housing.  On the other hand, there is a substantial argument against forcing an integrated housing complex to become segregated, even if current conditions make integration feasible only by means of imposing some extra delay on minority applicants for housing.  Officials of the Department of Justice are entitled to urge the former policy.  Respected civil rights advocates like the noted psychologist, Dr. Kenneth Clark, are entitled to urge the latter policy, as he has done in an affidavit filed in this suit.  That policy choice should be left to the individual decisions of private property owners unless and until Congress or the New York legislature decides for the Nation or for New York that it prefers to outlaw maintenance of integration.  I do not believe Congress made that decision in 1968, and it is a substantial question whether it would make such a decision today.  Until Congress acts, we should not lend our authority to the result this lawsuit will surely bring about.  In the words of Dr. Clark: “[I]t would be a tragedy of the highest magnitude if this litigation were to lead to the destruction of one of the model integrated communities in the United States.” Because the Fair Housing Act does not require this tragedy to occur, I respectfully dissent.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

63:  How did the program at issue in Starrett City work?  What arguments do you see about whether the program violated the literal language of the statute?  What arguments do the judges make from the legislative history?  

64:  The majority’s reasoning incorporates an analogy to employer affirmative action programs under Title VII.  Develop a list of ways in which the two types of programs are similar and are different.  Does the Title VII test the court adopts make sense given your list?

65:.  What happened in the Otero case? How does the majority distinguish Otero in Starrett City?  How does the dissent respond?  Who is more convincing?  

66:  Who is harmed and who is helped by the Starrett City decision?  Why did the Reagan administration bring the case?  Do you think the result is correct as a matter of statutory interpretation?  As a matter of policy?

WRITTEN ASSIGNMENT IV 

INTEGRATION MAINTENANCE:  LAW AND POLICY

Due:  Tuesday March 20 (9:00 p.m.)
For this assignment, you will be writing responses to the three separate legal questions related to integration maintenance that are laid out on the next page.  General instructions for all assignments are located on pages 46-47. Directions specific to this assignment are provided below.  

Although for grading purposes, I will weigh each of your three responses equally, I do not necessarily expect them to be equal in length.  However, each response should be at least one double-spaced page long and the total submission should be no more than 7 double-spaced pages long.  Clearly mark the response to each question by starting with the identifying letter, A, B or C.  Do not repeat the questions themselves. You need not start the response to each question on a new page so long as each answer is clearly delineated.  

Your response to each question should incorporate what you think are the strongest arguments for and against treating the program at issue as a statutory violation.  Some possible sources for your arguments are found beneath each question.  Although you are not required to do so, you also may make arguments based on cases or statutory interpretation materials from other parts of the course. You should conclude each response by indicating which set of arguments you think is strongest and why.    


In presenting your arguments, so long as you make your points clearly, you can employ the kind of informal style I would allow you to use on an exam (see model answers online), including using bullet points, sentence fragments, headings replacing topic sentences, abbreviations, and shortened citation forms (e.g., Starrett or  So.Sub.).  You can assume I know the nature of the programs from Starrett City and South Suburban need not describe them except to the extent that your analysis requires you to make references to specific aspects of the programs.  


When grading, I will reward adhering to the directions, clear and concise presentation; evidence of careful thought; use of specific references to the course materials to support your points; the quality and quantity of the arguments you muster for each side, and the support you provide for your ultimate conclusion to each question. 

For this assignment, you will need to read South Suburban, which follows on pages 169-73.  We will not be going over South Suburban in class.  Here are the three questions you will address: 

(A) Assuming Starrett City is binding precedent, does the program at issue in South Suburban violate §3604(a)?  

Your discussion might consider some or all of the following: 

· The analysis of “benign discrimination” used in Starrett City.

· Whether South Suburban is distinguishable from Starrett City as a matter of statutory interpretation or as a matter of policy.

· Whether the 7th Circuit’s analysis in South Suburban is convincing.  
(B) Assuming you have no binding precedent, does the program at issue in South Suburban violate §3604(c)? 
Your discussion might consider some or all of the following: 

· The policies we’ve discussed that underlie §3604(c).

· 24 CFR §100.75.

· Whether the 7th Circuit’s analysis is convincing.  
(C) A city public housing program normally selects tenants from the top of a city-wide waiting list.  However, when a vacancy opens up in a building whose tenants are at least 85% of one race, the program gives preferences to people who are not of that race. Assuming you have no binding precedent, does this program violate §3604(a)?

Your discussion might consider some or all of the following: 

· The analysis used in Starrett City and/or South Suburban.

· Whether this program is distinguishable from Starrett City and/or South Suburban as a matter of statutory interpretation or as a matter of policy.

· The analysis used in Braunstein.
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
SOUTH-SUBURBAN HOUSING CENTER v. 

GREATER SOUTH SUBURBAN BOARD OF REALTORS 

935 F.2d 868 (7th Cir. 1991)

COFFEY, Circuit Judge. These consolidated appeals deal with a variety of constitutional and Fair Housing Act challenges to real estate marketing activities and municipal ordinances affecting the real estate market in a number of the southern suburbs of Chicago….  The municipalities involved are the Cities of Blue Island and Country Club Hills and the Villages of Calumet Park, Glenwood, Hazel Crest, Matteson, Park Forest, Richton Park and University Park. … The district court found that these formerly all-white suburbs have become integrated, but now face the threat of resegregation as a result of

a complex mix of market forces.  These market forces include racial prejudice:  some whites and some blacks prefer to live in segregated communities;  the belief that high concentrations of blacks result in a drop in home values;  the expectation that an integrated community will eventually become segregated;  and housing search practices that are reinforced by certain real estate practices.

In order to stem the tide of these market forces and promote integrated housing patterns, the plaintiff, SSHC [South Suburban Housing Center], “attempted to influence the housing market by encouraging the sales and marketing of real estate in what it terms to be ‘non-traditional’ ways, i.e., encouraging whites to move to black or integrated areas and blacks to move to white or integrated areas.”  A controversy between South-Suburban Housing Center and the Realtors [Greater South Suburban Board of Realtors and National Association of Realtors] over the propriety of SSHC making special efforts to market houses in black neighborhoods to white home buyers spawned the initial complaint in this litigation….

  
… SSHC is an Illinois, non-profit corporation whose “purposes are to ‘promote and encourage multiracial communities in the South Suburbs’ of Chicago and ‘promote open housing to all people regardless of race.’ “  SSHC engages in a program of “affirmative marketing” of real estate, which “consists of race conscious efforts to promote integration or prevent segregation through special marketing of real estate to attract persons of particular racial classifications who are not likely to either be aware of the availability or express an interest in the real estate without such special efforts.”  …

  
This action originated as a result of the Realtors’ reaction to South-Suburban Housing Center’s attempts to promote a racial balance in the Village of Park Forest through making special efforts to interest white home buyers in property there.  The current racial imbalance came about during the 1970s when many black families moved into an area in the northeast corner of the Village of Park Forest, Illinois known as the Eastgate subdivision.  At the time of the 1980 census, the census block including the homes at issue here had become more than fifty-six percent black, more than double the black population of any other census block in the Eastgate subdivision.  As a result of the area’s reputation as “a black block,” few white families were interested in buying property.  The area became less attractive to home buyers as VA and FHA mortgage foreclosures led to abandoned homes and neighborhood blight. In response to the problem of abandoned homes in the Eastgate subdivision, in 1982 the Village of Park Forest instituted a program of purchasing vacant or abandoned homes for rehabilitation and resale, including vacant homes at numbers 9, 15 and 26 Apache Street.  SSHC submitted a proposal, which included affirmative marketing, to Park Forest for the acquisition, rehabilitation and resale of these three homes.


After the Park Forest Board of Trustees accepted the proposal and sold the homes to the South-Suburban Housing Center, the SSHC agreed to list the homes for sale with Century 21-Host Realty through one of its salesmen, William H. Motluck.  The parties utilized a standard real estate contract form with the exception of provisions that Century 21-Host Realty was “to implement the affirmative marketing plan attached as appendix.”  In addition to securing a buyer, Century 21-Host Realty’s receipt of a commission was conditioned upon its “performance of the attached affirmative marketing plan.”

The affirmative marketing plan (AMP) directed that the realtor “use its best efforts to attract minority and majority groups persons” to the particular Apache Street home, and stated that the SSHC and the Realtor “agree that white home seekers are not likely without special outreach efforts to be attracted to the Apache St. home.”  The AMP also provided that the Realtor would use “the following special outreach activities to attract white home seekers to the Apache Street home:

A. 
Placement of advertisements in newspapers with a predominantly white circulation;

B. 
Distribution of information to selected rental developments;  and

C. 
Distribution of information to selected employers.

The Plan also provided that “Realtor shall not take any action which prohibits, restricts, narrows or limits the housing choice of any client on the basis of race.”  Century 21 was further required to maintain “a list of all persons, by race, who are shown the Apache Street home....”

  
The Realtors became involved when Century 21-Host Realty listed the Apache Street homes with GSSBR’s multiple listing service.  The AMP created a conflict between Century 21 salesperson William Motluck and the Realtors, as the Realtors believed it was inappropriate under the fair housing laws to affirmatively market homes to one particular race, in this instance whites, in the absence of prior discrimination.  … The Realtors allege that SSHC and Park Forest violated … 42 U.S.C. §§3604(a) and (c), in promulgating and implementing the Apache Street affirmative marketing plan. …

1.  
42 U.S.C. §3604(a). …  §3604(a)… prohibits the “refus[al] to sell or rent ... or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.”  The Fair Housing Act is concerned with both the furtherance of equal housing opportunity and the elimination of segregated housing.  As we observed in Southend Neighborhood Improvement Association v. County of St. Clair, 743 F.2d 1207, 1209-10 (7th Cir.1984):

The Fair Housing Act prohibits both direct discrimination and practices with significant discriminatory effects.  For example, although Section 3604(a) applies principally to the sale or rental of dwellings, courts have construed the phrase ‘otherwise make unavailable or deny’ in subsection (a) to encompass mortgage ‘redlining,’ insurance redlining, racial steering, exclusionary zoning decisions, and other actions by individuals or governmental units which directly affect the availability of housing to minorities.  Of course, the alleged illegal actions must lead to discriminatory effects on the availability of housing.  The Act is concerned with ending racially segregated housing. Section 3604(a) applies to the availability of housing.  That section thus is violated by discriminatory actions, or certain actions with discriminatory effects, that affect the availability of housing.

The Realtors argue that the affirmative marketing plan furthers the goal of “ending racially segregated housing” at the expense of limiting the “availability of housing” for black people.  They assert that this alleged subordination of equal housing opportunity to the goal of integration is invalid, just as the courts held in United States v. Starrett City Associates, 840 F.2d 1096 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 946 (1988), and United States v. Charlottesville Redevelopment and Housing Authority, 718 F.Supp. 461 (W.D.Va.1989).  In Starrett City, owners of a government subsidized housing development sought to maintain an ethnic distribution of tenants in their project consisting of sixty-four percent white persons, twenty-two percent black persons and eight percent Hispanic persons through a “tenanting procedure” that filled apartment vacancies with “applicants of a race or national origin similar to that of the departing tenant....”  In Charlottesville, a “tenant selection policy ... gave preferential treatment to white applicants for public housing,” based upon an intent to “achieve a 50/50 mix of black and white residents in ... public housing.” The courts determined that each of these “quota” programs violated the Fair Housing Act.  In Charlottesville, the court recognized that the Fair Housing Act’s twin purposes of eliminating discrimination in housing and furthering integration in housing are both important, but may occasionally be incompatible:

The legislative history of the Fair Housing Act suggests to this court that the prime focus or the ‘quickening’ force behind that legislation is prohibition of discrimination in the provision of housing, but also that integration was seen by the creators of that legislation as a prominent goal and a value of great worth.  From the perspective of over two decades, it is perhaps excusable to find the unexamined assumption in the Act’s legislative history that the principles of nondiscrimination and integration will always necessarily go hand in hand.  With our later perspective, that assumption may be unfounded, but it does not detract from the observation that this legislation was created with both legal (and moral) principles in mind, although primary weight is given to the prohibition of discrimination. However, cases such as Trafficante [v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 409 U.S. 205 (1972) ] illustrate that the legal principle of integration and concern for the achievement of that goal cannot be considered mere surplusage.

The court determined that Charlottesville’s “quota” program presented a conflict between the Act’s purposes of nondiscrimination and integration, and held that:

In the present conflict between these two legal principles, nondiscrimination and integration, the obligation of [the Charlottesville Redevelopment and Housing Authority (CRHA)] to avoid discrimination must ‘trump’ CRHA’s obligation to promote integration, as regards the promotion of integration through the specific policy mechanism and controversy before this court.  It is not that this court ascribes to integration a status inferior to nondiscrimination in the pantheon of legal values.  It is, rather, that the duty to avoid discrimination must circumscribe the specific particular ways in which a party under the duty to integrate can seek to fulfill that second duty.

Similarly, the Second Circuit in Starrett City held that while integration maintenance with its concern over

the ‘white flight’ phenomenon may be a factor ‘take[n] into account in the integration equation,’ Parent Ass’n of Andrew Jackson High School v. Ambach, 598 F.2d 705, 720 (2d Cir.1979), it cannot serve to justify attempts to maintain integration at Starrett City through inflexible racial quotas that are neither temporary in nature nor used to remedy past racial discrimination or imbalance within the complex.

Thus, Starrett City and Charlottesville both mandate the conclusion that an interest in racial integration alone is insufficient to justify a racial quota system which favors whites and thereby lessens housing opportunities for minorities.

In contrast to the subordination of the goal of equal housing opportunity to the goal of integration presented by the facts in Starrett City and Charlottesville, the Realtors’ challenge to the Apache Street affirmative marketing plan presents the question of whether a real estate organization may engage in limited race conscious marketing which does not exclude minorities from housing opportunities.  Thus, we are not dealing with conflicting goals, for the affirmative marketing plan furthers the goal of integration while providing equal opportunities to all.

  
Essentially, the Realtors’ contention is that the AMP constitutes invalid “steering” of blacks from Park Forest in that it “deterred blacks from buying on Apache Street and in Park Forest generally by directing essential information about housing availability away from blacks and towards whites, and by stigmatizing black residents and home seekers.”  This Court has not previously addressed the question of whether an attempt to interest white homeowners in property located in an area of predominant interest to black home buyers constitutes “steering” violative of the Fair Housing Act.  However, we recently addressed the analysis applicable to an allegation of more traditional, non-benign “steering” in Village of Bellwood v. Dwivedi, 895 F.2d 1521, 1529-30 (7th Cir.1990):

The mental element required in a steering case is the same as that required in employment discrimination cases challenged either under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 … or under 42 U.S.C. §1981 … on a theory of disparate treatment.  ‘Disparate treatment’ means treating a person differently because of his race;  it implies consciousness of race, and a purpose to use race as a decision-making tool.  …

  
In analyzing the question of whether directing information to predominantly white audiences concerning the Apache Street homes violates the Fair Housing Act, we must recognize that these homes likely would have been primarily of interest to black home buyers.  But SSHC’s affirmative marketing plan in no way deters black home buyers from pursuing their interest in the Apache Street homes;  it merely creates additional competition in the housing market.  If the AMP resulted in realtors “refusing to show properties because of the race of the customer, or misleading the customer about the availability of properties because of his race, or cajoling or coercing the customer because of his race to buy this property or that or look in this community rather than that,” id. at 1530, we would agree that racial steering may possibly have been involved.  In the absence of concrete evidence of this nature, however, we see nothing wrong with SSHC attempting to attract white persons to housing opportunities they might not ordinarily know about and thus choose to pursue.

The district court explicitly found that:

The SSHC’s stated purpose in entering into and implementing the Apache Street listings was to add some ‘white traffic to the properties in addition to the black traffic,’ not to decrease or restrict the black traffic.  The relevant evidence supports a finding that that was in fact the SSHC’s purpose.

With respect to the ultimate factual finding of whether the Realtors had proven intentional discrimination, the trial court found:

Since counterplaintiffs offered no evidence respecting any persons who sought to purchase or rent homes and who were denied that right by the SSHC, or that the SSHC denied or made housing available to anyone, or in any way restricted or limited anyone’s housing choice, the court concludes that the counterplaintiffs have failed to prove an ‘intent’ case under the Fair Housing Act.
The record contains neither cases of particular adversely affected black home buyers nor statistical evidence that would lead us to conclude that the trial court’s finding of an absence of intentional discrimination was clearly erroneous.

  
In addition to furthering the Fair Housing Act’s goal of integration, we are of the opinion that the AMP also advances the purpose of the Act through making housing equally available to all by stimulating interest among a broader range of buyers.  Furthermore, this marketing may simply be a wise business move in that it stimulates interest in housing among new and/or potential customers. We disagree with the Realtors’ argument that increased competition among black and white home buyers for the same homes constitutes a violation of the Fair Housing Act.  Instead, this is precisely the type of robust multi-racial market activity which the Fair Housing Act intends to stimulate.  Because the Apache Street affirmative marketing plan merely provided additional information to white home buyers concerning properties they might not ordinarily know about nor consider, and involved no lessening of efforts to attract black home buyers to these same properties, we conclude that the plan was not in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3604(a). 

2.  42 U.S.C. §3604(c).   The Realtors go on to argue that SSHC and Park Forest violated 42 U.S.C. §3604(c) because the promulgation of the Apache Street AMP constituted the publication of a statement indicating a preference based on race or color or an intention to make such a preference.  As discussed previously, the Apache Street AMP merely directs additional promotional and advertising toward a racial group that would normally have little interest in the respective homes. It contains no racial quota or other provision purporting to make race a factor in a decision concerning who would be permitted to see or purchase the Apache Street homes.  Thus, we are of the opinion that the Apache Street plan was not an improper statement of racial preference under 42 U.S.C. §3604(c).

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
D.  REVIEW PROBLEMS (COMING SOON)
1 The Court notes, in conclusion, that its decision not to recognize §§1981and 1982 as creating a cause of action for discriminatory advertising in the instant case is of limited practical effect here.  The Court has already held that plaintiffs have proven a Fair Housing Act violation based on the same facts and awarded them compensatory, but not punitive, damages.  Identical damages are sought for the alleged §1981 and §1982 violations.  Because plaintiffs would not be entitled to recover double damages, the Court's ruling on the scope of Sections 1981 and 1982 has limited practical significance.





12 The apartments in question are located in the area east of 19th Street North in Billings, Montana, an area allegedly poorly lit and otherwise poorly suited for single women walking alone.





4 As the local housing finance agency, the Department of Housing Preservation and Development has primary responsibility for supervision and management of Manhattan Plaza. HPD must comply with HUD regulations and is subject to audit and review by the federal agency. Criteria established by HUD provide “The bedroom size assigned should not require persons of the opposite sex other than husband and wife to occupy the same bedroom other than infants or very young children.” 


9 Courts considering the legitimacy of legislation against bisexual massages within the context of Title VII have on occasion invalidated the ordinances. See Stratton v. Drumm, 445 F.Supp. 1305, 1312(D.Conn.1978) (effects of such ordinance coupled with realities of the massage business had a disproportionately detrimental impact on women); Cianciolo v. Members of City Council, 376 F.Supp. 719, 722-24 (E.D.Tenn.1974) (ordinance prohibiting bisexual massages was invalid since gender was not bona fide occupational qualification). See note 10 infra. In another Title VII action, male and female basketball coaches of the women’s team complained that they earned less than coaches of the men’s team. The court dismissed the complaint on the ground that “the disparity in treatment [was] not based on Plaintiffs’ sex.” Jackson v. Armstrong School Dist., 430 F.Supp. 1050, 1052 (W.D.Pa.1977); Accord, Kenneweg v. Hampton Township School Dist., 438 F.Supp. 575, 577 (W.D.Pa.1977).


10 Neither has there been any showing that the facially neutral plan in this case discriminates against a particular gender in its effect. See General Electric Co. v. Gilbert, 429 U.S. 125, 136-37 (1976).


11 Although the equal protection violation is urged upon the Court as a separate ground, it has of necessity been dealt with to a certain extent in the Court’s analysis of the Fair Housing Act. The court notes that in General Electric Co. v. Gilbert, 429 U.S. 125, 136 (1976), the Supreme Court held that the equal protection reasoning in Geduldig v. Aiello, 417 U.S. 484 (1974), was applicable to an action claiming gender-based discrimination under Title VII. In discussing sex discrimination under Title VII, the Supreme Court stated: 


The concept of ‘discrimination,’ of course, was well known at the time of the enactment of Title VII, having been associated with the Fourteenth Amendment for nearly a century, and carrying with it a long history of judicial construction. When Congress makes it unlawful for an employer to ‘discriminate ... because of ... sex ...,’ without further explanation of its meaning, we should not readily infer that it meant something different from what the concept of discrimination has traditionally meant.


Id. at 145.


12 The Supreme Court elaborated on the “proxy” theory as follows: 


‘[A]rchaic and overbroad’ generalizations ... concerning the financial position of servicewomen, Frontiero v. Richardson, (411 U.S. 677, 689 n.23 (1973)), and working women, Weinberger v. Wiesenfeld, 420 U.S. 636 (1975), could not justify use of a gender line in determining eligibility for certain governmental entitlements. Similarly, increasingly outdated misconceptions concerning the role of females in the home rather than in the ‘marketplace and world of ideas’ were rejected as loose fitting characterizations incapable of supporting state statutory schemes that were premised upon their accuracy... . In light of the weak congruence between gender and the characteristic or trait that gender purported to represent, it was necessary that the legislatures choose either to realign their substantive laws in a gender-neutral fashion, or to adopt procedures for identifying those instances where the sex-centered generalization actually comported with fact.


Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 198-99 (1976).


14 According to the affidavit of Richard R. Kirk, Managing Director of defendant Dwelling Managers, Inc., in December 1978, there were 35 one bedroom apartments in Manhattan Plaza that were occupied by single parents with children of the same sex. Defendants calculate that if these 35 families were to occupy two bedroom apartments, the annual increase in subsidy would be $40,740.  Thus, defendants claim that “[o]ccupancy of two-bedroom apartments by other than single parents obviously permits a greater number of persons to enjoy the benefits of the [federal] subsidy, and also positively tends, because of the greater number of adults, to reduce the amount of the subsidy because a certain portion of families with two adults will be comprised of multiple wage earners.”  ...


15 On April 5, 1979, the Court heard oral argument regarding the governmental interest served by assignment of two bedroom apartments to single parents with a child of the opposite sex. Defendants subsequently submitted affidavits and statements from two psychiatrists (Vincenzo Conigliaro, M.D. and Yale Kramer, M.D.) who presented their views on the psychological dangers which result from having a single parent and a child of the opposite sex share the same bedroom.  Dr. Kramer concluded that “affectional and sexual overstimulation is more likely to occur where the opposite sexes sleep together, and this leads to ... impaired psychological development.” In addition, where opposite sexes sleep together there may be “traumatic overexposure to adult genitalia which may have powerful pathogenic effects on children....”  Finally “there is suggestive evidence that children sleeping with opposite-sexed parents reinforces a gender identification with those parents which leads to later gender-identity conflicts.”  Dr. Conigliaro contended that the sharing of the same bedroom by a single parent and child of the opposite sex “could contribute to, or cause, an excessive degree of ‘allosexual identifications’, [where a child identifies with the parent of the opposite sex] with results bearing on character formation, Super Ego formation and sexual identity.”


4 The Court, drawing a parallel between Title VIII and Title VII, which bars discrimination in employment, supports its view of Title VIII with Supreme Court decisions approving only limited use of race�conscious remedies under statutory and constitutional standards in the employment context.  Though Titles VIII and VII share a common objective of combating discrimination, their differing contexts preclude the assumption that the law of affirmative action developed for employment is readily applicable to housing.  The Title VII cases have not been concerned with a “tipping point” beyond which a work force might become segregated.  Yet that is a demonstrated fact of life in the context of housing. The statutory issue arising under Title VIII should be decided on the basis of what practices Congress was proscribing when it enacted this provision.  Whether the constitutional standards for affirmative action differ between the employment and housing contexts need not be considered since the Government has explicitly declined in this litigation to advance any claim of unconstitutional action.
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